IMPACTS OF EXTREME METEOROLOGICAL EVENTS ON METABOLISM OF LAKE EYMIR USING HIGH FREQUENCY AUTOMATED LAKE OBSERVATION STATION

A THESIS SUBMITTED TO THE GRADUATE SCHOOL OF NATURAL AND APPLIED SCIENCIES OF MIDDLE EAST TECHNICAL UNIVERSITY

 $\mathbf{B}\mathbf{Y}$

DUYGU TOLUNAY

IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF MASTER OF SCIENCE IN BIOLOGY

MAY 2018

Approval of thesis:

IMPACTS OF EXTREME METEOROLOGICAL EVENTS ON METABOLISM OF LAKE EYMIR USING HIGH FREQUENCY AUTOMATED LAKE OBSERVATION STATION

submitted by **DUYGU TOLUNAY** in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of **Master of Science in Biology Department, Middle East Technical University** by,

Prof. Dr. Halil Kalıpçılar Dean, Graduate School of Natural and Applied Sciences	
Prof. Dr. Orhan Adalı Head of Department, Biology	
Prof. Dr. Meryem Beklioğlu Supervisor, Biology Dept., METU	
Examining Committee, Members:	
Prof. Dr. Fatih Evrendilek Environmental Engineering Dept., AIBU	
Prof. Dr. Meryem Beklioğlu Supervisor, Biology Dept., METU	
Prof. Dr. C. Can Bilgin Biology Dept., METU	
Assoc. Prof. Dr. Ceylan Talu Yozgatlıgil Statistics Dept., METU	
Assoc. Prof. Dr. Nusret Karakaya Environmental Engineering Dept., AIBU	
	Date: 18.05.2018

I hereby declare that all information in this document has been obtained and presented in accordance with academic rules and ethical conduct. I also declare that, as required by these rules and conduct, I have fully cited and referenced all material and results that are not original to this work.

Name, Last Name: Duygu Tolunay

Signature:

ABSTRACT

IMPACTS OF EXTREME METEOROLOGICAL EVENTS ON METABOLISM OF LAKE EYMIR USING HIGH FREQUENCY AUTOMATED LAKE OBSERVATION STATION

Tolunay, Duygu M.Sc. Department of Biology Supervisor: Prof. Dr. Meryem Beklioğlu

May 2018, 72 pages

One year measurements between September 2015 and August 2016 from high frequency automated lake observation station were collected to estimate metabolism of Lake Eymir based on diel oxygen changes. Estimated gross primary production (GPP), respiration (RES) and net ecosystem production (NEP) were used to assess the role of Lake Eymir in carbon cycling and the response of lake ecosystem to extreme meteorological events. In addition to compare different approaches seven distinct k_{600} methods and five metabolism models were used.

According to results, even Lake Eymir has been experiencing eutrophication more than 20 years, the lake acts as carbon source to atmosphere throughout the year except the algal bloom periods. Despite the fact that, during extreme wind events, disruption of thermal stratification induced emission of CO₂, mixing of the lake increased unrealistic estimations of metabolism probably due to lack of model inputs. In addition, it has been found that results of piston velocity methods vary more than the results of metabolism models.

Keywords: lakes, lake metabolism, climate change, global carbon cycle, extreme meteorological events, high frequency monitoring

METEOROLOJİK UÇ OLAYLARIN EYMİR GÖLÜ METABOLİZMASI ÜZERİNDEKİ ETKİLERİNİN YÜKSEK ÇÖZÜNÜRLÜKLÜ OTOMATİK GÖL İZLEME İSTASYONU İLE BELİRLENMESİ

Tolunay, Duygu Yüksek Lisans, Biyoloji Bölümü Tez Yöneticisi: Prof. Dr. Meryem Beklioğlu

Mayıs 2018, 72 sayfa

Eylül 2015 ve Ağustos 2016 yılları arasında, Eymir Gölü'ne tesis edilen yüksek çözünürlüklü otomatik göl izleme istastonundan alınan veriler ile günlük oksijen değişiminden göl metabolisması hesabı yapılmıştır. Tahmin edilen toplam birincil üretim (GPP), solunum (RES) ve net ekosistem üretimi (NEP) ile Eymir Gölü'nün karbon döngüsündeki rolü ve şiddetli meteorolojik olaylara verdiği tepkiler değerlendirilmiştir. Buna ek olarak, farklı yaklaşımları karşılaştırmak için yedi farklı k_{600} metodu ve beş metbolizma modeli kullanılmıştır.

Elde edilen sonuçlara göre, Eymir Gölü uzun süreden beri ötrofik statüde olmasına rağmen yıl boyunca alg artışı olduğu dönemler haricinde atmosfere karbon salınımı yapmaktadır. Fırtınalar, sıcaklık tabakalaşmasını ortadan kaldırmış; epilimniondaki klorofil-*a* konsantrasyonunun azalmasına, flurosan çözünmüş organik madde miktarının artmasına yol açmış, göldeki karbon salınımını tetiklemiştir. Ayrıca gölün karışması, model girdilerinden kaynaklanması muhtemel metabolizma tahminlerinde hatalı sonuçlar vermiştir Buna ek olarak piston hızı metodları arasında farklılık daha belirgin iken metabolizma modellerinde bu fark fazla gözlemlenmemiştir.

Anahtar kelimeler: göller, göl metabolizması, iklim değişikliği, küresel karbon döngüsü, meteorolojik uç olaylar, yüksek çözünürlüklü göl izleme sistemleri,

To My Sister, Mother, Father and Nephew

*

To Elif, Erdinç and Doğa Taşel

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This will be a long gratitude list because I met with wonderful people during my master and every person in my life contributed me to become who I am today. Also I never forget their support when the things went tough.

I would like to thank to my supervisor Prof. Dr. Meryem Beklioglu for her motivation, patience, and confidence in me through completing my master study. Also, I would like to thank Nusret Karakaya and Fatih Evrendilek to support me anytime. Besides, Ceylan Yozgatligil, Deniz Seçilmiş, Hamit İzgi and Mehmet Somel were ready all the time for me to answer my endless statistical questions.

Much appreciation is also expressed to Lab204 family. First I took over the flag of the project from Ali Serhan Çağan who taught every details in the project. I managed the laboratory works thanks to Eti Ester Levi. Also, she gave me precious moral support even she moved in Denmark and spent various time on my thesis as well. Gizem Bezirci was a great companion while I was pursuing my master that we saved many memories including lots of horses in. We shared many field works with Uğur Işkın, Saygın Sual and Büşra Yağlı. Our field works were like booby traps that we don't know when or where we will face with problems but we have many memories worth remembering. In addition, I am grateful İzel Akdeniz for her support during the water chemistry analysis. Also, I want to thank Zeynep Ersoy, Nihan Tavşanoğlu, Nur Filiz Erol, Esra Kuzyaka, Mert Elverici and Şeyda Erdoğan to make my life easier by giving valuable advices. Besides, Uğur Işkın and Nur Filiz had great contribution to the thesis by carrying out species identification.

Most credit goes to Tuba Bucak Onay. She was my secret supervisor, deskmate, companion and friend. She taught me a lot, put up with me and helped me every step in my life. Also, I can't think about her without Oğuz and their two lovely cats Perihan and Kül. Thanks for all that they opened their heart to me.

Throughout the master, dancing was my only passion thanks to my dance teacher, Gülüm Pekcan Şimşir, her son Bartucan and her husband Erkin Şimşir. Their endless energy gave me a faith to be able to finish this thesis.

I never forget my roommates Nur Yıldırım, Deniz Seçilmiş and Hande Güneş. Everday I came to the room with exhaustion and planning to quit, you made my life meaningful and also I appreciate our long skype talks even we were really far away.

And of course my best friend Pelin Erdim. Even you were far away, I felt your support all the time. Emre Ayar has his own way to make me happy during my crazy times. Of course, Yağmur Kurtoğlu saved the day even she was in Germany. I knew Merve Baksi and Sinan Yörükoğlu were also there for me even we couldn't see each other all the time. In addition, my future DASK partner Ozan Bektaş, how can I forget your endorsement after leaving the team.

Elif and Erdinç Taşel, you were always with me. You became my family in Ankara. You opened your home and your hearts to me. You listened to me without judging and showed me that you can choose any roads as long as you make your own decision. Also, my friend, sister, boss and guidance, Zeynep Yurtkuran Çeterez was always next to me every time I need her. Doğa Taşel came into my life when I started my master. She was the one of the reasons makes me want to get up mornings. When I am with her I forget all my responsibilities. She made me understand that thinking like a child makes many things easier.

I am very grateful to this project because it brought you, Joost. You are warm, affable and wise man. You made me believe something that I've already thought it doesn't exist. You showed me that love is still out there, waiting for us.

Last but not least I want to thank my family to believe in me and never withhold their loves. Especially my second mother, my lovely sister was there to cheer me up.

Finally, I would like to thank The Scientific and Technological Research Council of Turkey (TUBİTAK) for supporting me via 114Y415 (COST 2515) project during my master study.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACTv
ÖZvi
ACKNOWLEDGMENTSviii
TABLE OF CONTENTSx
LIST OF TABLES
LIST OF FIGURES
CHAPTERS
I. INTRODUCTION
1.1 Importance of Lakes
1.2 Threats to Lake Ecosystems
1.3 Climate Change and Extreme Meteorological Events
1.4 Eutrophication
1.5 Roles of Lakes in the Global Carbon Cycle
1.6 Lake Metabolism
1.7 Importance of High Frequency Monitoring in Lake Metabolism7
1.8 Aim of the Study
2. MATERIAL AND METHODS
2.1 Study Site
2.2 High Frequency Lake Eymir Monitoring System: Installment, Deployment
and Maintenance11
2.3 Sampling Procedures and Laboratory Analysis
2.4 Estimation of Lake Metabolism15
2.4.1 Estimation of Mixing Depth16

2.4.	Estimation of Physical Gas Flux (F)	
2.4.	.3 GPP, RES and NEP estimation	
2.5	Statistical Analysis	
3. RES	SULTS	
3.1	Physico-chemical Parameters	
3.2	Biological Parameters	
3.3	Estimation of Metabolism Results	
3.3.	Piston Velocity (kgas) with Different k600 Methods	
3.3.	Comparison of Model Outputs for Metabolism Estimations	
3.3.	3.3 Inevitable Errors	
3.3.	Results of Metabolism	
3.3.	8.5 Metabolism and Environmental Parameters	
3.3.	E.6 Extreme Meteorological Events	
4. DIS	SCUSSION	
4.1	Comparisons of Piston Velocity Methods and Metabolism Models	s48
4.2	Environmental Parameters and Lake Metabolism	
4.3	Extreme Meteorological Events	
5. COI	NCLUSION	
REFEI	RENCES	
APPEI	INDICES	
APPI	ENDIX A	72

LIST OF TABLES

TABLES

Table 1.1 Main ecosystem services of lakes (Revised from Schallenberg et al., 2013)
Table 2.1 Measured Parameters from High Frequency Lake Eymir Monitoring
System
Table 2.2 The methods and needed parameters for estimation of piston velocity
constant (k ₆₀₀)19
Table 2.3 Different approaches of five metabolism models (Revised from Winslow
<i>et. al</i> 2016)
Table 3.1 Mean values ± standard errors of parameters measured by HFLEMS 25
Table 3.2 Mean values ± standard errors of parameters measured at biweekly
monitoring during sampling period
Table 3.3 Statistical table for different methods of k _{gas} (n=145)35
Table 3.4 Monthly metabolism parameters (mg. O ₂ . l ⁻¹ . d ⁻¹)

LIST OF FIGURES

FIGURES

Figure 1.1 Major climate regulators, climate response and forcing and few example
for response of lakes (retrieved from (Williamson et al., 2009))
Figure 1.2 Organic Carbon (C) cycling in aquatic systems (revised from (Staehr et
al., 2012(a))) RES _{het} : respiration of heterotrophs, RES _{aut} : respiration of autotrophs,
NEP: Net ecosystem production, GPP: Gross primary production
Figure 1.3 Applications of lake metabolism for 80 years studies (retrieved from
(Staehr et al., 2012(a))7
Figure 2.1 Lake Eymir and its catchment area (Taken from Özen et al. 2010)9
Figure 2.2 High Frequency Lake Eymir Monitoring System and field works
Figure 2.3. Parameters to estimate metabolic processes in Lake Eymir
Figure 3.1 Raw data of air temperature (°C), surface water temperature (0.5m) (°C),
wind speed (m/s), fDOM-RFU and dissolved oxygen (mg/l)27
Figure 3.2 Monthly averaged diel dissolved oxygen concentration changes a.
September 2015 b. October 2015 c. November 2015 d. April 2016 e. May 2016 f.
June 2016 g. July 2016 h. August 2016
Figure 3.3 Temperature profiles of Lake Eymir (a). September 2015 (b).October,
November and December 2015 (c). April 2016 (d.) May 2016 (e). June 2016 (f). July
2016 and (g). August 2016
Figure 3.4 Chlorophyll-a and Blue green algae (BGA) concentrations from high
frequency measurements and biweekley monitoring of chlorophyll- a and relation
with Secchi depth
Figure 3.5 Pearson correlation between algal production and air, water temperature
with whole data and during growing period of phytoplankton (spring)
Figure 3.6 Zooplankton abundance during spring and summer periods

Figure 3.7 Unrealistic metabolism values for each model (erroneous days were
averaged from seven different methods and were represented as percentage)
Figure 3.8 Unrealistic values for GPP (green) and RES (orange) for each method and
model (mGPP, hGPP, mRES, hRES, respectively)
Figure 3.9 Pearson Correlation matrix between metabolism parameters and
environmental parameters
Figure 3.10 Metabolism parameters for 145 days with errors (mg. O_2 . l^{-1} . d^{-1})41
Figure 3.11 (a) Metabolism parameters, (b) Wind speed (m/s), (c) Dissolved oxygen
concentration (mg/L), (d) Primary producers and fDOM concentrations in September
Figure 3.12 Air temperature changes during spring 2016
Figure 3.13 (a) Metabolism parameters, (b) Wind speed (m/s), (c) Primary producers
concentration in Spring 2016
Figure 3.14 Metabolism parameters during late spring and begining of summer 2016
Figure 3.15 (a) Metabolism parameters, (b) Wind speed (m/s), (c) Primary producers
concentrations in August 2016

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

1.1 Importance of Lakes

Natural lakes and ponds constitute approximately 4.2 million km² of Earth surface and most of them are considered as small and shallow lakes (Downing et al., 2006; Wetzel, 2001). Shallow lakes are defined as a lake with mean depth less than 3 meter and relatively well-mixed water column throughout the year (Moss, 1998). Their limited buffering capacity makes shallow lakes more vulnerable to environmental changes than deeper water bodies (Beklioglu et al., 2011; Grizzetti et al., 2015). Due to the strong feedback between lakes and their environment, internal physical, chemical and biological dynamics can only be understood in the context of the surrounding environment and changes therein.

Despite direct benefits to human like water supply, electricity, food and recreation facilities, lakes supply shelter 10% of the known species in the world (WWF, 2016) (Table1.1). However, increase in anthropogenic activities cause deprivation of ecosystem services of lakes (Moss, 1998; Schallenberg et al., 2013; Wetzel, 2001).

Table 1.1 Main ecosystem services of lal	es (Revised from Schallenberg et al., 2013)
--	---

Type of Services	Ecosystem services
Global Convention	Biodiversity and climate change mitigation
Provisioning	Drinking water, waterfowl, fisheries
Support and regulation	Nutrient and sediment processing, sequestration,
Cultural	recreation and tourism, spiritual morals

1.2 Threats to Lake Ecosystems

As an essential source for all life, water requires our undivided attention if it comes to its protection. As a consequences of anthropogenic activities, resilience of the water sources has been under threat (Steffen et al., 2011). According to the Food and Agriculture Organization of United Nations (FAO), pressures on water resources today reached critical levels as a result of increasing human populations in combination with changing consumption patterns (FAO, 2016). Climate change, agriculture, mining, nutrient loading, habitat degradation, pollution and overfishing are just few perils that compel changes in lake ecosystems functions and services.

It is estimated that more than half of the world's population will be living water scarcity by 2025 (Matthews, 2016). Concerns over water scarcity leads to intensifying management actions to protect lakes. As a result, previously underestimated lakes have become hotspots for creation of management plans for sustainable water usage.

1.3 Climate Change and Extreme Meteorological Events

Climate change is known as increase in greenhouse gases in the atmosphere which leads an alteration of weather pattern that is expected to affect all ecosystems either directly or indirectly (Groffman et al., 2014). These effects are scale-specific, and differ in space and time (Jeppesen et al., 2015) making it arduous to understand the current and ultimate effects of climate change. Major forcing factors of climate change are structural changes in solar radiation, air temperature, and precipitation (Williamson et al., 2009).

Despite the small portion of the Earth surface that is covered by lakes, their responses to these forcing factors may give valuable information since they are sentinels (Adrian et al., 2009), integrators, and regulators of climate change (Tranvik et al., 2009) (Figure 1.1). Previous studies have shown that lakes have been experiencing warmer water temperatures, long-term thermal stratification, and changes in water level due to climate change. These changes, in turn, have led to

anoxic layers, fish kills, loss of biodiversity, drought and flooding. (Vincent, 2009; Williamson et al., 2009)



Figure 1.1 Major climate regulators, climate response and forcing and few example for response of lakes (retrieved from (Williamson et al., 2009))

Other visible effect of climate change is increase in extreme weather events. Extreme events are defined as rare and intense events which have severe consequences on ecosystems and socio-economy (Beniston et al., 2007). Today, extreme events such as heat waves, heavy precipitations, droughts, and wind storms were recorded in high frequency than past times (Melillo et al., 2014; Tsai et al., 2011)

Heat waves during summer have increased that induced drought and vegetation problems in the lakes (Frich et al., 2002; Houghton JT et al., 2001; Schär et al., 2004). In addition, according to climate change models, decline in heavy winter and summer and with earlier and longer droughts in the Mediterranean will affect lake ecosystems severely (Beniston et al., 2007). Also, increase in wind storms is expected to disrupt thermal stratification and mix lake that influence distribution of the organic and inorganic matters within as well as between the systems (Bontes et al., 2005; Tranvik et al., 2009; Zwart et al., 2016). After discovering of roles of lakes in global carbon cycle, effects of climate change and extreme weather events on lake ecosystem became hotspot of the scientific world (Cole et al., 2007).

1.4 Eutrophication

The other world-wide problem that affects lake ecosystems is eutrophication defined as excessive water plant or algal growth due to increase in access of limiting factor/s that is crucial for photosynthesis such as light, nutrient and carbon dioxide (CO₂) (Schindler, 2006).

Although eutrophication is natural process occurs over centuries, anthropogenic activities combining with climate change have hastened its rate and extented its range (Carpenter et al., 1998). Domestic, industrial wastes and agriculture have been accelerating accumulation of nutrients especially phosphorus and nitrogen in lakes that decrease limitation one of the important limiting factor for photosynthesis. Increase in availability of nutrients combining with climate change enhances blooms of certain species of primary producers which can tolerate extreme conditions like high temperatures and storms (Jeppesen et al., 2010; Moss, 2010; Rigosi et al., 2014).

The consequences of the eutrophication are severe both for ecosystem functions and services. Decrease in water quality because of algal blooms causes losing drinking water, fisheries, and recreational ecosystem services of the lakes. In addition, extensive growth of primary producers unbalances the oxygen level and distribution in the lake that leads to anoxic water bodies result in death of many organisms and eventually decline in biodiversity (Arend et al., 2011; Burkholder et al., 1992; Diaz and Rosenberg, 2008; Jeppesen et al., 1997).

Since main driver of C budget in lakes is primary producers, eutrophication has important role in global C cycle. Interaction of eutrophication and climate change/ extreme meteorological events has also influence on transportation, transformation and storage of the organic carbon (Cole et al., 2007; Tranvik et al., 2009).

1.5 Roles of Lakes in the Global Carbon Cycle

Since lands and oceans cover larger surface area than inland waters, its contribution to carbon (C) cycle were neglected for a long time (Cole et al., 2007). However, climate change impelled scientist focusing on greenhouse gasses and carbon cycle which has an active role in the Earth's energy budget (Raymond et al., 2013). As a consequence, it was discovered that lakes play important role in transport, transformation and storage of carbon (Tranvik et al., 2009). While stream and rivers emit 1.8 petagrams of carbon per year (Pg C yr⁻¹), lakes release 0.32 Pg C yr⁻¹ (Raymond et al., 2013). Inland waters are generally supersaturated with CO₂ which contribute substantial portion of atmospheric C budget. The reasons of net of CO₂ emission to the atmosphere from lakes are respiration by organisms (RES), burying organic C in their sediments and also terrestrial input exceed CO₂ uptake by primary producers (Duarte and Prairie, 2005; Kortelainen et al., 2004; Molot and Dillon, 1997; Pace and Prairie, 2005; Rantakari and Kortelainen, 2005; Sobek, Tranvik, and Cole, 2005) (Figure 1.2). While earlier studies were used alkalinity, pH and dark/light chambers for CO₂ budgets in the lakes today, most common way to understand C cycling is assessing lake metabolism (Staehr et al., 2012(a)).



Figure 1.2 Organic Carbon (C) cycling in aquatic systems (revised from (Staehr et al., 2012(a))) RES_{het}: respiration of heterotrophs, RES_{aut}: respiration of autotrophs, NEP: Net ecosystem production, GPP: Gross primary production.

1.6 Lake Metabolism

Lake metabolism represents formation and utilization of organic matter in lakes by estimating net ecosystem production (NEP) (Hoellein, Bruesewitz, and Richardson, 2013; Staehr et al., 2012 (a); Staehr et al., 2012(b)). Lake metabolism provides information about trophic status of lake and biochemical cycles in lake. Also, it is a powerful tool to monitor responses of lake ecosystem to environmental changes. There are several techniques to estimate lake metabolism such as using dissolved oxygen (DO) concentration or CO₂ concentration changes, oxygen isotopes and incubations of water taken from lakes (Staehr et al., 2012(a)). Today, the most common and cost effective way is measuring diel dissolved oxygen concentration changes (Cole et al., 2000; Hall, 1972; Hanson et al., 2003; Smith and Key, 1975; Staehr et al., 2010; Van de Bogert et al., 2007). In this technique, bottles and chambers incubation were used in past but today, high frequency measurements obtained from automatic buoy systems provide more reliable results. It is assumed that diel DO changes depends on gross primary production (GPP) and respiratory consumption (RES) as well as the physical exchange of oxygen between air and water (F) (Equation 1.1). Other possible effects on dynamic of oxygen concentration are neglected (A). Other assumption is photosynthetic production occurs only during daylight. Equal amount of respiration during night and daylight is the third assumption.

$NEP = GPP - R \pm F \pm A$ (Equation 1.1)

The basic equation is generated with algebra. However, after discovering non-linear pattern of dissolved oxygen, GPP, RES and F were tried to be explained with different parameters and different statistical approaches (Odum, 1956; Staehr et al., 2012(b); Winslow et al., 2016). Balance between these values also represent the CO_2 dynamics in lakes. Most of the studies were done by using lake metabolism is to estimate carbon budget of the ecosystem because the other methods such as C^{13} isotopes or chamber approaches are expensive and labor intensive (Staehr et al., 2012(a)) (Figure 1.3).



Figure 1.3 Applications of lake metabolism for 80 years studies (retrieved from (Staehr et al., 2012(a))

According to studies for carbon budget, it has been recorded that respiration (RES) in lakes exceeds the gross primary production (GPP) due to inflow of organic matter from catchment area and burial of carbon in the sediment that leads emission of CO_2 (Kosten et al., 2010; Sobek et al., 2005). In the literature, if lakes are source of CO_2 called heterotrophic (GPP < RES; NEP<0), if they store carbon, called autotrophic (GPP > RES; NEP>0) (Borges et al., 2014; Odum, 1956; Sadro, Melack, and MacIntyre, 2011; Staehr and Sand-Jensen, 2007; Staehr et al., 2010). The balance between RES and GPP depend on both metabolic processes in lakes and interaction with environments. However, these processes have not been fully understood yet. In addition, by means of incline in anthropogenic pressures and climate change, the role of lakes in the global carbon cycle is also affected (Jeppesen et al., 2015).

1.7 Importance of High Frequency Monitoring in Lake Metabolism

As pressures on water resources have been increasing day by day due to human activities and climate change, effective monitoring approaches are critical to design proper management programs (Myers, 2009; Water Scarcity Drafting Group, 2006; WHO, 2003). Traditional long-term monitoring develops gaps due to biweekly sampling frequency that misses the effects of short term and abrupt changes on lake ecosystems. With recent technologies, high frequency buoy systems have been

developed which is cost effective, less time and labor intensive (Burkholder et al., 2004). Global Lake Ecological Observatory Network (GLEON, <u>http://gleon.org/</u>) and Networking Lake Observatories in Europe (NETLAKE, <u>http://www.netlake.org</u>) have spreaded this advance technogly all over the world.

High frequency buoys generally combine meteorological stations above the water and sondes in a lake. Sondes have several probes which can measure different chemical and biological parameters such as dissolved oxygen, chlorophyll-*a*, dissolved organic carbon (DOC) concentrations, salinity and pH. The frequency of data collection may vary from minutes to hours. As real time measurements with sondes are obtained automatically, it minimizes human errors and time delays and increases the quantity and quality of data.

Despite the fact that climate change will alter precipitation and temperature for long term period, more extreme events (storms, heatwaves and extreme precipitation) are predicted that may affect ecosystem stability (Thompson et al., 2013). In order to spot the possible effects of short term extreme events, high frequency monitoring is crucial.

1.8 Aim of the Study

There are two major goals of this thesis. First, to assess the ecosystem metabolism of biomanipulated eutrophic Lake Eymir using high frequency measurements of diel oxygen changes. This aim also includes possible effects of extreme meteorological events on the metabolism and also assessment of CO₂ fluxes of biomanipulated eutrophic Lake Eymir. Since Lake Eymir is an eutrophic lake, we hypothesize to observe more carbon storage (autotrophy) during the year which may change during extreme events. Second aim is whether using different approaches to calculating gas flux and metabolism models give significant results that may effect the assessment which shouldn't be the case. Also, effects of using raw data or aggregated data on results were examined. Moreover, this thesis may set a case study that involves high frequency monitoring in lakes in Turkey.

CHAPTER 2

MATERIAL AND METHODS

2.1 Study Site

Lake Eymir (39°57' N, 32°53' E) is a relatively shallow lake, located 20 km south of Ankara (Figure 2.1). The surface area of the lake varies between 100-130 ha with mean depth of 3.2 m (Coppens et al., 2016). The catchment area of Lake Eymir is 971 km² and includes a suburban town, Gölbaşı, which is located between Lake Mogan and Lake Eymir (Özen et al., 2010). The main inflow point (Inflow I) is located at the southern end of Lake Eymir, where it connects to the upstream Lake Mogan. A secondary ephemeral inflow is located on the northern end, and is called Kışlakçı brook (Inflow II). Inflow from this brook is associated with snow melt and therefore only runs in spring.



Figure 2.1 Lake Eymir and its catchment area (Taken from Özen et al. 2010)

Lake Eymir is situated in an arid cold steppe climate, with hot dry summers, and cold snowy winters (Peel, Finlayson, and McMahon, 2006). The lake is most of the time dimictic but also can be monomictic during warm winters.

From 1979 until 1995, the lake has received sewage effluent from Gölbaşı town. This has led to eutrophication of the lake $(727 \pm 433 \ \mu gl^{-1}, 1.49 \pm 0.82 \ mg \ l^{-1}$ and 27 ± 22 µgl⁻¹, of Total Phosphorus (TP), Dissolved Inorganic Nitrogen (DIN) and chlorophyll-a, respectively) between 1993 and 1995 (Beklioğlu et. al. 2003). In 1995, sewage effluent diversion was undertaken to restore and prevent further eutrophication (Beklioglu, Ince, and Tuzun, 2003). This significantly reduced nutrient concentrations, and led, for example to a three-fold decrease in TP without recovering water clarity (Beklioglu, Burnak, and Ince, 2000; Beklioglu et al., 2003; Beklioglu et al., 2017) From 1997 onwards, lake ecological monitoring program of METU- Limnology laboratory has started (http://www.limnology.bio.metu.edu.tr/). In order to restore Lake Eymir, a first biomanipulation was conducted in 1998-1999 by removing 57% of tench and carp population (Beklioglu et al., 2000). The fish removal increased Secchi depth 4.3-fold through a decrease in chlorophyll-a concentration and suspended solids (Beklioglu et al., 2000). In addition, submerged plants started to re-develop, reaching their highest coverage by spreading to 90% of the lake surface area in 2001 (Beklioglu and Tan, 2008). However, during the drought period between 2003 and 2009, water quality shifted back to its prebiomanipulation state, with lower macrophyte coverage and higher abundance of tench and carp (Özen, 2006). As a result, a new biomanipulation period was initiated in 2006 and continued till 2014. This attempt improved water quality (2-fold and 1.5fold decline in chlorophyll-a and suspended solids, respectively) but not the coverage of submerged plants (Özen et al., 2010). Moreover, release of the predator stress on the zooplankton community had led to an increase in the grazing pressure on phytoplankton. In Lake Eymir, the zooplankton community was dominated by large sized calanoid copepods and cladocerans (Beklioğlu et al., 2017). Today, Lake Eymir cycles through a clear water state with a high abundance of zooplankton during spring, and a turbid water state during algal blooms occurring at the end of the summer and/or beginning of the autumn.

2.2 High Frequency Lake Eymir Monitoring System: Installment, Deployment and Maintenance

A high frequency Lake Eymir monitoring system (HFLEMS) was set up at the deepest part of Lake Eymir (~5.5 m) (Figure 2.2). The system consists of a meteorological module above the surface and an underwater sonde array, thus allowing coupled monitoring of atmospheric and aquatic conditions. A solar panel and a backup power supply provide the energy to the station.

The meteorological module was mounted 2 m above water surface and measures weather parameters like wind speed, air temperature, and barometric pressure. The sonde array is comprised of two sondes at different depths (1.5 m and 4.5 m, respectively) and a thermostat chain covering the entire depth of the lake water with 0.5 m intervals. The underwater sondes are capable of measuring biological, physical and chemical parameters, while the thermostat chain allows monitoring of changes in thermal stratification. The whole system collects data with 10 minute intervals.

HFLEMS was established at the end of the August 2015 and sampling period were conducted between 5th of September 2015 until 18th of August 2016 excluding winter period. Prior to establishment, probes were introduced to the sondes and calibrated according to the user manuals. During the study period, the system was visited every Friday to clean the probes and check the battery level. In addition, data were collected from each system using a computer and a hand-held equipment, into an excel document for further analysis. Sondes and probes of thermostat chain were taken out from the lake when water temperature drops 10 °C and kept under suitable conditions at laboratory, unlike the meteorological module remained throughout the year.

Meteorological module measures average, maximum and minimum of wind speed (m/s) together with wind direction, air temperature ($^{\circ}$ C), barometric pressure (mbar), relative humidity (%) and solar wave radiation (W/m²), and the two sondes record water temperature ($^{\circ}$ C), saturated dissolved oxygen (%), dissolved oxygen (mg/l), chlorophyll-*a* (µg/l, RFU), total dissolved solids, TDS (mg/l), conductivity (µs/cm), salinity (psu) and. In addition, sonde at 1.5 meter takes measurements of turbidity

(FNU), fluorescent dissolved organic matter-fDOM (RFU), oxidation reduction potential-ORP (mV) and phycoerythrin blue green algae-BGA-PE (μ g/l, RFU) (Table 2.1).



Figure 2.2 High Frequency Lake Eymir Monitoring System and field works

	Meteorological Module	Sonde Module*		
		Sonde 1 (1.5 m)	Sonde 2 (4.5 m)	
	Average Wind Speed (m/s)	Water Temperature(°C)	Water Temperature(°C)	
	Minimum Wind Speed (m/s)	Saturated Dissolved Oxygen (%)	Saturated Dissolved Oxygen (%)	
	Maximum Wind Speed (m/s)	Dissolved Oxygen (mg/l)	Dissolved Oxygen (mg/l)	
	Wind Direction (degree)	Chlorophyll-a (µg/l, RFU)	Chlorophyll-a (µg/l, RFU)	
	Air Temperature (°C)	Total Dissolved Solids, TDS (mg/l)	Total Dissolved Solids, TDS (mg/l)	
13	Barometric Pressure (mbar)	Conductivity (µS/cm)	Conductivity (µS/cm)	
	Relative Humidity (%)	Salinity (psu)	Salinity (psu)	
•••	Shortwave Radiation (W/m ²)	pH	рН	
		Turbidity (FNU)		
		Fluorescent Dissolved Organic Matter, fDOM (RFU)		
		Oxidation Reduction Potential, ORP (mV)		
		Phycoerythrin Blue Green Algae, BGA-PE (µg/l,		
		RFU)		

Table 2.1 Measured Parameters from High Frequency Lake Eymir Monitoring System

*In addition to the two sondes, nine temperature probes were installed at a 0.5 m interval throughout the water column (thermostat chain)

2.3 Sampling Procedures and Laboratory Analysis

In order to validate the measurements taken by HFLEMS, manual on site measurements were conducted manually throughout the study period. During the growing season, measurements were conducted bi-weekly, otherwise measurements were done once a month. No sampling was conducted through the ice covered period.

In each sampling, water temperature (°C), dissolved oxygen concentration (mg/l), salinity (psu), conductivity (mS), total dissolved solids (g/l) and pH were measured manually with a YSI 556 MPS multi-probe field meter (YSI Incorporated, Yellow Springs, OH, USA through the water column in 0.5 m intervals, starting from the surface. Water depth and Secchi depth were recorded to monitor water level fluctuation and water clarity by using by using white disc with a diameter of 20 cm and Laylin SM5 depthmeter portable sounder (Laylin Associates, Unionville, USA), respectively.

A water sampler (volume: 3.5 L, KC-Denmark, Silkeborg, Denmark) was used to retrieve 40 L of water throughout the water column in 0.5 m intervals to obtain a composite water sample. Phytoplankton sample for enumeration was prepared from a 100 mL unfiltered composite water sample that was preserved in 2% Lugol's solution. Samples for zooplankton enumeration were stored in 4% Lugol's solution after filtering 20 L of composite water through a 20 μ m mesh size filter. In addition, 1 L of composite water was stored and kept frozen until further analyses of nutrients and other ions.

Laboratory analysis were carried out to determine total phosphorus (TP), soluble reactive phosphorus (SRP), nitrite-nitrate (NO₂-N and NO₃-N), total nitrogen (TN), alkalinity, silicate, suspended solid and chlorophyll-*a* concentrations. TP analysis was carried out with unfiltered water sample by using acid hydrolysis method (Mackereth, Heron, and Talling, 1978). Molybdate reaction method was used for SRP by using filtered water sample. TN, NO₂-N and NO₃-N analysis were performed using Scalar Autoanalyzer Standard Methods (Krom, 1980; Searle, 1984) Acid

titration with phenolphtaleine and B.D.H. indicators was used for alkalinity analysis (Mackereth et al., 1978). Silicate was determined by molybdate reaction (Golterman et al., 1987). The concentration of suspended solids was estimated after filtering a known volume of water sample through a filter paper (mesh size= 1.2μ) of known weight under vacuum and after drying it in an oven at 105°C for 12 hours (Standard Methods, 22. Edition. American Association, 1996). For determination of the chlorophyll-*a* concentration, ethanol extraction method was performed, with three technical replicates which were measured the absorbance 663 nm and 750 nm on spectrometer (Jespersen and Christoffersen, 1987).

Zooplankton identification was operated at a genus level only for two periods (May and August 2016). Magnification of 40X in a stereomicroscope (LEICA MZ 16) and 630X in an inverted microscope (LEICA DMI 4000) were used for counting. Genus for both littoral and pelagic samples were presented as individual/litter. Phytoplankton were identified for most abundant genus. After settling samples in Utermöhl chambers for 16-24 hours, inverted microscope was used with 400X or 630X magnification (LEICA DMI 4000). Identifications for zooplankton and phytoplankton were carried out by Uğur Işkın and Nur Filiz, respectively Counting were done only for zooplankton.

2.4 Estimation of Lake Metabolism

Lake metabolism was estimated by using air temperature (0 C), wind speed (m/s), barometric pressure (mbar), relative humidity (%) and solar wave radiation (W/m²) data from meteorological module; water temperature (0 C), dissolved oxygen (mg/l), salinity (psu) from sonde at 1.5 meter which represent epilimnion (Table 2.1). In addition, thermostat chain data were used to determine mixing depth. Missing days with no data due to technical problems or maintaining the probes were excluded. In order to assess smoothing effects on noisy measurements, raw data with 10-minute intervals (non-aggregated) and averaged hourly data (aggregated) for 145 days were used for metabolism estimation. Before estimating gross primary production (GPP), respiration (RES) and net ecosystem production (NEP), mixing depth (z.mix), piston velocity (k_{gas}) and photosynthetically active radiation (PAR) were estimated by using the raw data from HFLEMS. Seven different methods were used to estimate kgas. Piston velocity result for each method were run in five distinct models and for each model, unrealistic results (negative GPP or positive RES) were determined. Totally, 35 different results (7 methods X 5 models = 35 GPP, 35 RES and 35 NEP) were obtained for each aggregated and non-aggregated dataset (APPENDIX). Methods were compared within the metabolism models. On the other hand, in order to analyze five metabolism models, results from seven piston velocity (kgas) methods in each model were averaged to obtain single GPP, RES and NEP for each model. All calculations were conducted using the R 3.2.3 programming language for statistical computing (R core team, 2017). Further analysis was done by averaging all model results to reduce variation and rates of error. In order to examine effects of etreme meteorological events on lake ecosystems, abrupt changes in the ecosystem were determined from results of lake metabolism. Extreme meteorological events were defined as periods that cause sudden and visible changes in lake metabolism and was confirmed by Prof. Dr. Fatih Evrendilek who used Inter Quartile Range (IQR) approach in the final report of the TUBITAK COST Project (No:114Y415).

2.4.1 Estimation of Mixing Depth

Thermostat chain was composed of 9 temperature probes, which were laid out in 0.5 m intervals. At the depths of sonde, there were no temperature probes. Instead, temperature data from sonde were added to thermostat chain for two depths, 1.5 m and 4.5 m.

Thermostat chain data were used to estimate the mixing depth. It was estimated by using "rLakeAnalyzer" package (Winslow et al 2016) in R programming language for statistical computing (R core team, 2017). The function "meta.depths" was used to determine top and bottom depths of the metalimnion. Metalimnion was determined with the steepest thermal gradient and demarcated by the bottom of the epilimnion and the top of the hypolimnion. The top of the metalimnion was assumed to represent the mixing depth. Mixing depth was added to metabolism equation with physical gas flux (F) and irradiance data. For further estimation of relevant

metabolism parameters, surface water temperature was quantified as the temperature measured by the top probe at 0.5 m depth.

2.4.2 Estimation of Physical Gas Flux (F)

Physical gas flux indicates gas exchange between atmosphere and lake. Following the general equation of physical gas flux, (F) depends on the difference between the actual (O_{2meas}) and saturated (O_{2sat}) concentrations of dissolved oxygen and on the piston velocity (k_{gas}) (Equation 2.1).

 O_2 saturation is represented as 100% saturation of dissolved oxygen at a given salinity, temperature, and barometric pressure. Method by Garcia and Gordon (1992) was applied for estimating O_{2sat} . Water temperature and DO% were operated for O_{2meas} calculation.

$$F = k_{gas}(O_{2meas} - O_{2sat})$$
 equation 2.1

The piston velocity (k_{gas}) is the molecular diffusion of a gas, and depends on many factors such as wind, wind fetch, convection, rainfall and surfactants. It is calculated from the estimate of the piston velocity constant (k_{600}) and Schmidt number (Equation 2.2-2.3).

$$k_{gas}(mh^{-1}) = k_{600}(mh^{-1})(Sc/600)^{-0.5}$$
 equation 2.2
 $Sc = 1568 - 86.04T + 2.142T^2 - 0.0216T^3$ equation 2.3

There are many methods to estimate k_{600} . However, none of them universally renders the best results for all lakes. Therefore, in order to find whether using different methods give significant results for Lake Eymir, 7 different methods were used to estimate k_{600} (Table 2.2). All methods took wind speed into account as a main variable to determine k_{600} . Wind speed at 10 m above from surface water (U₁₀) is calculated for all models from the HFLMS data collected 2 m above the surface water using following equation. (Equation 2.4).

$$U_{10} = \left(measured wind speed(m/s)\right) \left(\frac{10}{height(m)}\right)^{1/7} \qquad equation 2.4$$

The method as developed by Cole and Caraco (1998) used wind speed as the only determinant of piston velocity (*k.cole*)

Crusius and Wanninkhof (2003) defined four alternative methods, also with wind speed as their only input. In this study, Crusius (*k.crusius*) method with only one mathematical approach known as "power" model was used (Crusius and Wanninkhof, 2003).

A third method (*k.vachon*) included lake area as a factor, in order to increase its accuracy as compared to the previous methods. Vachon and Prairie (2013) proved that even though wind and k_{600} are strongly related, accuracy of models changes in different lake ecosystems based on lake size.

Further studies focused on surface renewal methods. MacIntyre *et al.* (2010) asserted an idea that temperature difference between day and night causes heat loss in eplimnion, affecting gas exchange especially in small lakes. In this method (*k.macIntyre*), k_{600} depends on the kinematic viscosity of water (9) and the rate of dissipation of turbulent kinetic energy (ϵ).

Heiskanen *et al.* (2014) included wind shear and buoyancy flux into the equation (*k.heiskanen*). Piston velocity calculated with Schmidt number (Sc), wind speed at 10 meter (U10) and penetrative convective velocity (m/s).

Read *et al.* (2012) parameterized k600 as a function of surface mixed layer turbulence (*k.read*). The estimation of k600 is similar with MacIntyre method with different constants. In addition, tangential shear stress (τ_t) and thickness of the viscous sublayer (δ_v) were added to kinetic energy (ε) calculation.

The Last method (*k.soloviev*) is an expanded version of Read *et al.* (2012) by adding breaking wave (Soloviev et al., 2007).

All methods are available in "LakeMetabolizer" package in R programming (Winslow et al. 2016). Each k_{600} from seven methods was used to estimate seven k_{gas} and each k_{gas} was run into five metabolism models to obtain physical gas flux (F).

Table 2.2 The methods and needed parameters for estimation of piston velocity constant (k_{600})

	Model	Air	Barometric	Net	Relative	Shortwave	Surface	Wind	Lake Area	Latitude
		Temperature	Pressure	Longwave	Humidity	radiation	Water	Speed	(m ²)	(Degrees
		(°C)	(mbar)	Radiation	(%)	(W/m ²)	Temperature	(m/s)		North)
				(W/m ²)			(°C)			
	k.cole							Х		
	k.crusius							Х		
19	k.vachon							Х	Х	
	k.macIntyre	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х		
	k.heiskanen	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х		
	k.read	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
_	k.soloviev	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х

2.4.3 GPP, RES and NEP estimation

Basic estimation of biological components of gross primary production (GPP), respiration (RES), and net ecosystem production (NEP) depend on a number of assumptions (Equation 2.5). First, GPP occurs only at daylight. Second, RES at night (RES_{night}) is equal to respiration at during daylight (RES_{daytime}). Finally, the metabolism is not affected by any other factors except atmospheric exchange, primary production and respiration.

Hourly net ecosystem production (NEP_{hr}) is estimated by using the change in the dissolved oxygen concentration (DO), physical gas exchange (F) and mixing depth (z.mix) data (Figure 2.3). After that, irradiance data is used to calculate dayfraction, which is the ratio of light hours to 24h period in order to determine net ecosystem production during daylight (NEP_{daytime}). Since, there is no primary production at night, respiration at night (RES_{hr}) equals to net ecosystem production at night (NEP_{hr(darkness})). Also, because respiration at night equals to respiration during daylight, RES_{daytime} can be estimated by using RES_{hr} and dayfraction. Before daily NEP estimation, GPP is equals to sum of NEP_{daytime} and RES_{day}. Finally, daily net ecosystem production (NEP) is defined as difference between GPP and RESday.



Figure 2.3. Parameters to estimate metabolic processes in Lake Eymir

$$\begin{split} NEP_{hr} &= \Delta O_2 - (F/z_{mix}) & equation 2.5 \\ NEP_{daytime} &= meanNEP_{hr(daylight)} * dayfraction * 24 \\ RES_{hr} &= meanNEP_{hr(darkness)} \\ RES_{daytime} &= RES_{hr} * dayfraction * 24 \\ RES_{day} &= RES_{hr} * 24 \\ GPP &= NEP_{daytime} + RES_{daytime} \\ NEP &= GPP - RES_{day} \end{split}$$

For the estimation of metabolism, five different approaches used, are found in "Lake Metabolizer" package in R programming (Table 2.3). *Bookkeep* is the simplest model that does not include error terms (Cole et al., 2000; Odum, 1956) also does not use irradiance data. In *Ordinary Least Squares (OLS)* models, linear regression is used to estimate changes in dissolved oxygen and model is fitted by using OLS approach and it

takes process error into account. Maximum likelihood estimation (MLE) however, adds process and observation errors into the equation and the regression model does not contain pervious oxygen observation like in OLS approach. Instead it uses estimated value from previous estimation. The Kalman filter follows the same approach but smooths dissolved oxygen data prior to further calculation (Batt and Carpenter, 2012). Similar to the MLE approaches, the Bayesian model also distinguishes observation and process error (Mutshinda, Finkel, and Irwin, 2013). Both *Kalman* and *Bayesian* models operates approaches with precisions not with variance.

As a result of faulty assumptions, metabolism estimation is problematic in some cases. Problems include negative estimations of GPP and positive RES values result in biased metabolism outcomes. However, these unrealistic results also indicate when model falls into error that can help to improve further models. Therefore, faulty assumptions were also considered.

Table 2.3 Different approaches of five metabolism models (Revised from Winslow *et. al* 2016)

Model	Statistics	Error Type	Primary production – irradiance relationship	Respiration – temperature relationship
Bayesian	Bayesian	Gaussian	Linear	Log-linear
Bookkeep	Algebra	None	None	None
Kalman	MLE & Kalman filter	Gaussian	Linear	Log-linear
MLE	MLE	Gaussian	Linear	Log-linear
OLS	Linear	Gaussian	Linear	Log-linear
	regression			
2.5 Statistical Analysis

All statistical analyses were done in R programming version 3.2.2. For 5 models and 7 methods, non-parametric Mann Whitney- u test were applied to compare GPP, RES and NEP parameters. Pearson correlation between environmental variables and metabolism parameters were reported by corrplot package in R programming after averaging tenminutes data into monthly data. Missing temperature data from thermostat chain because of technical problems were completed by linear interpolation method.

Extreme events were spotted by Prof. Dr. Fatih Evrendilek with inter-quartile range approach and outliers/extremes 1.5X IQR rule were applied to the data.

CHAPTER 3

RESULTS

3.1 Physico-chemical Parameters

The high frequency Lake Eymir monitoring system (HFLEMS) collected integrative data between September 2015 to August 2016 on both the atmosphere and the water column until the water temperature dropped under 10 0 C, at which point only meteorological data were collected (Table 3.1).

Table 3.1 Mean values \pm standard errors of parameters measured by HFLEMS

Parameters	Mean \pm sd
Wind speed (m/s)	1.4 ± 1.5
Air temperature (°C)	17.2 ± 8.2
Relative humidity (%)	60.3 ± 22.9
Short wave radiation (W/m ²)	205.2 ± 290.4
Barometric pressure (mbar)	905.4 ± 3.4
Saturated dissolved oxygen (%)	71.4 ± 35.2
Dissolved oxygen (mg/l)	6.5 ± 3.1
Water temperature at 1.5 m (°C)	20.2 ± 5.7
Mixing depth (z.mix)	3.6 ± 1.6
pH	8.7 ± 0.2
Fluorescent dissolved organic matter, fDOM (mV)	21.3 ± 2.1
Turbidity (FNU)	4.2 ± 2.6
Conductivity (µS/cm)	2327 ± 328.3
Salinity (psu)	1.0 ± 0.1

While relative humidity and barometric pressure reached their maxima in November 2015, highest short wave radiation was observed in June 2016. Yearly average wind speed was 1.4 m/s, while maxima of 10 m/s was observed in Spring 2016 (Figure 3.2). Wind speed above 4 m/s altered the temperature profile, dissolved oxygen and chlorophyll-*a* concentrations of the lake, with its severity depending on magnitude and continuity of winds.

The sonde placed at 1.5 meter measured highest water temperature as 28 0 C in June 2016 two days after air temperature reached its maximum value (Figure 3.2). Furthermore, fluorescent dissolved organic matter (fDOM) declined with increasing air temperatures (Pearson: r = - 0.81, p< 0.01), and reached its maximum value of 25.9 Relative Fluorescence units (RFU) at the end of the autumn 2015 (Figure 3.2). In September and October 2015 depletion of dissolved oxygen (DO) concentration co-occurred with continuous strong wind events above 4 m/s. DO concentration recover to a max of 18 mg/l in the following winter. Daily diel dissolved oxygen dynamics followed a different pattern between the seasons (Figure 3.3). During the day DO concentration increased and generally reached its maxima around 07:00 pm. During night DO concentration decreased sharply.



Figure 3.1. Raw data of air temperature (°C), surface water temperature (0.5m) (°C), wind speed (m/s), fDOM-RFU and dissolved oxygen (mg/l)



Figure 3.2. Monthly averaged diel dissolved oxygen concentration changes (a) September 2015 (b) October 2015 (c) November 2015 (d) April 2016 (e) May 2016 (f) June 2016 (g) July 2016 (h) August 2016

When present, thermal stratification had a mean depth of 3.6 m during study period with fluctuations up to 1.6m. Air temperature, precipitation and wind were the main predictors of thermal stratification. Long term thermal stratification was broken down after continuous strong wind events in September 2015 with the decline of air temperature (Figure 3.4). Nonetheless, mild temperatures in October prolonged the micro-stratification until the second week of the month. In late autumn and during winter thermal stratification was absent. Thermal stratification reoccurred in mid-April and continued through the summer (Figure 3.4). Nevertheless, throughout the summer thermal stratification was occasionally disrupted by precipitation and strong winds.





Figure 3.3 Temperature profiles of Lake Eymir (a) September 2015 (b) October, November and December 2015 (c) April 2016 (d) May 2016 (e) June 2016 (f) July 2016 and (g) August 2016

In addition to automated monitoring, seventeen manual in-situ measurements and water chemistry analysis were carried out every other week (Table 3.2). These data show an increase in Secchi depth during spring, followed by a sharp decline in July2016. While a TN:TP ratio below 10 indicated nitrogen limitation, averaged soluble reactive phosphorus (SRP) was around 31.5 μ g/l.

Table 3.2 Mean values \pm standard errors of parameters measured at biweeklymonitoring during sampling period

Parameters	Mean±sd
Max. depth (m)	5.8 ± 0.3
Secchi depth (cm)	213.5 ± 180.2
Total Phosphorus (µg/l)	106.5 ± 33.5
Soluble Reactive Phosphorus (µg/l)	26.6 ± 24.8
Nitrite + Nitrate (μ g/l)	26.6 ± 42.7
Total Nitrogen (µg/l)	561.8 ± 343.6
Suspended Solids (mg/l)	9.4 ± 5.3
Silicate (ppb)	4.1 ± 2.0
Alkalinity (meq/l)	8.1 ± 3.0
Averaged Water Temperature °C	17.7 ± 6.9
Conductivity (mS)	1.7 ± 0.3
Total Dissolved Solids (g/l)	1.3 ± 0.06
Salinity (psu)	1.0 ± 0.05
Dissolved Oxygen (mg/l)	5.6 ± 4.2
pH	8.4 ± 0.41

3.2 Biological Parameters

While HFLEMS recorded both chlorophyll-a and blue green algae (BGA) concentrations at 1.5 meter, only chlorophyll-a were measured during manual monitoring. The timing of the highest recorded values of chlorophyll-a differed between the manual biweekly and the automated high frequency monitoring (Figure 3.5). However, higher chlorophyll-a measurements in both time series coincided with the

period of algal blooms. In addition, chlorophyll-*a* concentration correlated negatively with Secchi depth (Pearson: r = -0.8, p<0.01).



Figure 3.4 Chlorophyll-*a* and Blue green algae (BGA) concentrations from high frequency measurements and biweekley monitoring of chlorophyll-*a* and relation with Secchi depth

Chlorophyll-*a* concentrations generally exceeded BGA concentration during the sampling period, although BGA concentrations exceeded those of chlorophyll-*a* during algal blooms in the late summer and autumn. (Figure 3.5).

Chlorophyll-*a* and BGA concentrations at 1.5 meter correlated negatively with air and water temperature (Pearson: r = -0.42, -0.6, -0.39, -0.6, p<0.01, respectively). There was, however, a strong time dependency: when spring 2016 was disregarded, Chlorophyll-*a* and BGA concentrations at 1.5 meter correlated positively with air and water temperature.



Figure 3.5 Pearson correlation between algal production and air, water temperature with whole data and during growing period of phytoplankton (spring).

Another positive relation was found with turbidity (Pearson, r = 0.74, 0.73, p<0.01, chlorophyll-*a* and BGA, respectively). In October, during mixing period there was a decrease in chlorophyll-a, also coinciding with DO depletion at 1.5 meter (Figure 3.6). Moreover, SRP and TN:TP ratio were negatively correlated with chlorophyll-*a* concentration (Pearson, r = -0.42, -0.53, p<0.01, respectively).

Both for phytoplankton and zooplankton, idenditification were carried on for two different periods. In spring, abundance of zooplankton reached highest values. Throughtout the spring, big-sized zooplankton like daphnids and copepods prevailed. During summer, on the other hand, rotifers dominated the lake (Figure 3.7).

In phytoplankton community, Cryptophyta class (genus: *Cryptomonas* and *Plagioselis*), dominated the lake during April 2016. In May 2016, however, big-size Cryptomonas was replaced by *Ankyra* genus from Chlorophyta class. By increase in temperature, *Chroococcus dispersus* from Cyanobacteria class were found higher in abundace with large centric diatoms.





3.3 Estimation of Metabolism Results

3.3.1 Piston Velocity (kgas) with Different k600 Methods

Piston velocity, an important determinant of O_2 exchange between air and water, was estimated with seven different k_{600} methods. Each method was applied on the original (10-minute interval) time series, and an aggregated series with an interval of an hour between data points (Table 3.3). Based on the non-aggregated data, the *Heiskanen* and *MacIntyre* methods rendered similar estimates for k_{gas} . In addition, the variance between days was markedly higher as compared to other estimation methods. The *Heiskanen* and *MacIntyre* also differed from *Cole, Crusius, Vachon, Read* and *Soloviev* methods in that they were the only ones to estimate piston velocity to be zero. Estimations on aggregated data, results of all methods were significantly different from each other (Mann Whitney, p < 0.01). After assessing methods for piston velocity, each methods were run in five distinct metabolism models.

Ten Minutes Data							
	Cole	Crusius	Vachon	Heiskanen	Read	Soloviev	MacIntyre
Min.	0.38	0.031	0.10	0.00	0.06	0.06	0.00
Median	0.62	0.14	1.33	2.91	0.78	0.78	2.91
Mean	0.81	0.66	1.52	2.61	1.17	1.26	2.61
Max.	4.84	16.26	7.32	10.01	4.04	11.09	10.01
Sd.	0.81±0.42	0.66±1.12	1.52±0.90	2.61±1.62	1.17±0.82	1.26±1.01	2.61±1.62
Var	0.18	1.25	0.82	2.63	0.67	1.01	2.63
Hourly D	ata						
	Cole	Crusius	Vachon	Heiskanen	Read	Soloviev	MacIntyre
Min.	0.39	0.032	0.48	0.11	0.08	0.08	0
Median	0.63	0.15	1.14	1.33	0.79	0.79	2.90
Mean	0.79	0.60	1.39	1.49	1.15	1.22	2.56
Max.	3.31	9.91	4.54	5.53	3.96	6.51	7.69
Sd.	0.79±0.38	0.60±0.97	1.39±0.77	1.49±0.83	1.15±0.77	1.22±0.91	2.56±1.59
Var	0.15	0.95	0.59	0.69	0.59	0.84	2.51

Table 3.3 Statistical table for different methods of k_{gas} (n=145)

ω 5

3.3.2 Comparison of Model Outputs for Metabolism Estimations

Seven distinct methods for piston velocity (kgas) were used to estimate physical gas flux (F), which subsequently used in running five different models for metabolism estimation by using aggregated and non-aggregated data, leading to a total of 70 estimations of gross primary production (GPP), respiration (RES) and net ecosystem production (NEP). In some cases, GPP, RES and NEP estimations differed significantly between methods and/or models (Appendix A).

In each model, GPP estimation from non-aggregated data (mGPP) rendered similar pattern for *MacIntyre* and *Heiskanen* method. These two methods significantly differed from other methods in all models (Mann Whitney, p<0.01). When mGPP is aggregated into hourly data (hGPP), estimations were no longer different between methods for *Bayesian, Bookeep, Mle* and *Ols* models, but with the exception of the *MacIntyre* method. However, in the *Kalman* model, hGPP was different in *Heiskanen* method (Mann Whitney, p<0.01) instead of *MacIntyre* method.

While the estimated mGPPs were different for *Heiskanen* and *MacInytre* methods, estimation of mRESs also followed the same pattern for each model. hRES estimations differed for *MacIntyre* method compared to the other methods, except for *Kalman* model like in hGPP results.

The average of the GPP and RES estimations obtained from the seven distinct methods calculated for each model, and no statistical difference was found between these five models. Altering the interval of data (non-aggregated vs aggregated) also did not render different results. Only in *Bookkeep* model, both mGPP and hGPP differed from other models.

3.3.3 Inevitable Errors

Five models occasionally estimated GPP and RES to be unrealistic results (GPP<0 or/and RES>0) (Figure 3.8). These out-of-range estimations in turn led to erroneous estimation for NEP. The number of erroneous RES values declined when aggregated data were used instead of non-aggregated data. On the other hand, the number of negative GPP values was higher when aggregated data were used. Nonetheless, aggregated data rendered the lowest number sub-zero GPP values (8 days) in the *Bayesian-MacIntyre* model. In general, the number of negative estimations for RES were low among models than for estimated GPPs (Figure 3.9).

Number of days with unrealistic estimations from seven methods in each model were averaged to compare metabolism models. unrealistic GPP estimations remained more frequent than unrealistic RES estimations. Unlike RES, unrealistic GPP estimations increased in frequency when data were aggregated. The lowest number of error was observed in *Bayesian* model except in hRES, which had the lowest value in *Mle* approach. Error in *Bookkeep* model increased with averaged dataset for both GPP and RES. Most of the unrealistic estimates coincided with the times of sudden abrupt changes and the times when thermal stratification was broken down during autumn.



Figure 3.7 Unrealistic metabolism values for each model (erroneous days were averaged from seven different methods and were represented as percentage)



Figure 3.8 Unrealistic values for GPP (green) and RES (orange) for each method and model (mGPP, hGPP, mRES, hRES, respectively)

3.3.4 Results of Metabolism

Analyses of overall metabolism was done by averaging all model results from raw data by eliminating the unrealistic results (GPP<0 or RES>0). According to daily estimation of metabolism, most of the year, Lake Eymir acted as CO₂ source to atmosphere (90/110 days). Monthly results also pointed out net heterotrophy (NEP <0). Only in September, net autotrophy (NEP >0) was recorded as 1.2 mg O₂. $1^{-1}d^{-1}$ coinciding with an extended algal bloom period (Table 3.4). In autumn, after the net autotrophic period, disturbance led to a decrease in GPP. Since GPP supports RES in the epilimnion, the reduction of GPP first caused a decrease in RES, subsequently resulting with the RES exceeding GPP, thus causing the lake to shift back to the heterotrophic system during the mixing periods.

Month	GPP.avg	RES.avg	NEP.avg
September 2015	8.8	-7.6	1.2
October 2015	3.1	-4.8	-1.7
November 2015	1.6	-1.7	-0.1
April 2016	3.7	-4.5	-0.8
May 2016	1.1	-2.0	-0.9
June 2016	1.5	-2.8	-1.3
July 2016	3.1	-4.7	-1.6
August 2016	2.0	-3.6	-1.6

Table 3.4 Monthly metabolism parameters (mg. O_2 , l^{-1} , d^{-1})

3.3.5 Metabolism and Environmental Parameters

During the manual monitoring, water samples were every other week analyzed for both N and P, to investigate correlations with metabolic processes (Figure 3.10). Both GPP and RES exhibited a negative correlation with TN:TP ratio (Pearson, r = -0.3, -0.7, respectively, p<0.01). SRP also decreased with increasing GPP. For Net ecosystem production (NEP) relations with environmental parameters were similar to RES and GPP.



Figure 3.9 Pearson Correlation matrix between metabolism parameters and environmental parameters

3.3.6 Extreme Meteorological Events

Metabolism showed three distinct episodes (Figure 3.11). The first period (09 - 21.09.2015) coincided with an algal bloom which included high GPP, and RES dropped with heavy rainfall and strong winds and followed by increase in RES. In the second period (15 - 22.04.2016), rising air temperatures triggered an increment of

phytoplankton leading higher GPP than RES. In the last period (01 - 20.08.2016) environmental conditions returned to values similar to the first period. This period starts with an algal bloom followed by a storm events disturbing lake thermal stratification.



Figure 3.10 Metabolism parameters for 145 days with errors (mg. O₂. l⁻¹. d⁻¹)

On the ninth of September 2016, a strong storm marked the beginning of a period with strong continuous winds. As a result of this storm thermal stratification broke down, ending the algal bloom (BGA $\approx 40 \ \mu g/L$) that maintained a high GPP and RES in the prior period (Figure 3.12). After two strongest winds, metebolism models failed to explain RES. However, fluctuation between heterotrophy and autotrophy ended up with net heterotrophy in the lake. This sudden change coincided with the reduction in the chlorophyll-*a* concentration as well.(Figure 3.12). Moreover, mixing and precipitation increased fDOM. Shortly after this first storm on the 9th of September, dissolved oxygen strongly decreased and induced a large-scale fish kill.



Figure 3.11 (a) Metabolism parameters, (b) Wind speed (m/s), (c) Dissolved oxygen concentration (mg/L), (d) Primary producers and fDOM concentrations in September

Increasing in temperatures and the onset of light breezes triggered an increase of GPP after 15th of April (Figure 3.13). However, 21th of April a sudden drop in air temperature by 11° C led to mixing and sharp decline in chlorophyll-*a* concentration. During sudden changes of temperature, the metabolism models gave faulty assumption for RES same as in the first episode. Even though the air temperature increased gradually after this day, GPP was still lower than RES (Figure 3.14). During this period, fDOM did not change, as it was the case in September 2015. Turbidity, however, increased with chlorophyll-*a* concentration. Although, dissolved oxygen levels showed a fluctuating pattern reminiscent of that of chlorophyll-*a*, no oxygen depletion was observed.



Figure 3.12 Air temperature changes during spring 2016



Figure 3.13 (a) Metabolism parameters, (b) Wind speed (m/s), (c) Primary producers concentration in Spring 2016



Figure 3.14 Metabolism parameters during late spring and begining of summer 2016

After the second episode, chlorophyll-*a* remained stable while respiration remained relatively high (Figure 3.15). This period concured with a period of an increase in large-sized zooplankton, which substantially contributed to the metabolic activity in the lake.

In late June 2016, water temperature of the lake got warmer and this stable environment created a suitable environment for an algal bloom. This bloom continued until the end of July, but was ended when wind speed increased after the 15th of August, when storms occurred. This reduced chlorophyll-*a* concentration and GPP but increased fDOM and RES (Figure 3.16). However, because the air temperature remained relatively high, a new algal bloom was induced, that could not be observed after first episode in September 2015.



Figure 3.15 (a) Metabolism parameters, (b) Wind speed (m/s), (c) Primary producers concentrations in August 2016

CHAPTER 4

DISCUSSION

Traditional ecosystem monitoring relies on discrete sampling that may cause overlooking the effects envirionemental changes including meterological e.g. short term wind on lake ecosystem (Marcé et al., 2016). By means of advanced technology, automated high frequency measurements in hours, minutes and seconds have been becoming common way to estimate lake metabolism (Cole et al., 2000; Gelda and Effler, 2002; Laas et al., 2012; Lauster, Hanson, and Kratz, 2006; Staehr and Sand-Jensen, 2007). Lake metabolism is one of the powerful metrics for understanding formation and utilization of organic matter by looking diel oxygen changes and estimating gross primary production (GPP), respiration (RES) and net ecosystem production (NEP) (Hoellein et al., 2013; Staehr et al., 2012(a)).

Basic model for estimating metabolism called *Bookkeep* is based on basic algebra. On the other hand, in advanced models, GPP is explained by irradiance data and RES is a function of water temperature. In addition, piston velocity, which explains how fast the exchange of O_2 between water and air, is also estimated by using various methods (Winslow et al., 2016). However, the effects of using different methods and models on metabolism results has not been fully studied. For this purpose, In Lake Eymir, seven different methods to estimate piston velocity and five metabolism models were compared.

4.1 Comparisons of Piston Velocity Methods and Metabolism Models

In this study, seven methods for piston velocity which explains fluxes of O_2 between water and air were used. While *Cole* and *Crusius* methods explained k_{gas} based on wind speed only (Cole and Caraco, 1998; Crusius and Wanninkhof, 2003), *Vachon* adds lake area into the equation. Surface renewal gas exchange methods *MacIntyre*, *Heiskanen*, *Read* and *Soloviev*, on the other hand, were developed by adding more parameters like relative humidity, air temperature, latitude and atmospheric pressure (Heiskanen et al., 2014; MacIntyre et al., 2010; Read and Rose, 2013; Soloviev et al., 2007).

In Lake Eymir, seven methods for k_{gas} estimation gave significant results but when they ran into five metabolism models, five methods (Cole, Crusius, Vachon, Read and Soloviev) over seven gave similar results for both RES and GPP when non-aggregated data were used. Since results from *Read* and *Soloviev* were not significantly different, wave effects on diffusion of O_2 added by *Soloviev* may not contribute to metabolism of Lake Eymir. Also, similar results with Cole, Crusius and Vachon may indicate measuring wind speed is enough to estimate piston velocity that reduce cost as well. In spite of these results, two surface renewal gas exchange methods Heiskanen and MacIntyre were significantly different than all other methods in non-aggregated data. Even two methods have similar logic with Read and Soloviev methods, formulation of parameters is different (Heiskanen et al., 2014; MacIntyre et al., 2010). Also, Heiskanen and MacIntyre did not include lake area and latitude. The reason for significant differences may also explained by coefficients. Two methods use bigger constants comparing with Read and Soloviev. In despite of these differences, when aggregated data were used, only *MacIntyre* method stayed significant. However, in *Kalman* model the *Heiskanen* was different than other methods. Big variation in *MacIntyre* and *Heiskanen* methods may indicate two approaches do not provide reliable results. The other possible answer for this, since k_{gas} estimation for MacIntyre and Heiskanen are various than the other methods, metabolism models could not be able to smooth the data. Even the real reason for this difference is unknown, the results indicate piston velocity

has substantial proportion on metabolism of Lake Eymir like found in the study was conducted by *Gilling* et. al. (2017).

When results of metabolism models were compared, no significant differences except *Bookkeep* model were obtained. *Bookkeep* estimated higher mGPP and hGPP may due to approach of estimating primary production. In *Bookkeep* model, GPP are not calculated with irradiance data (Winslow et al., 2016). Instead, it separates a day into dark and light and keeps GPP constant during daylight. In spite of this difference, distinct statistical approaches in metabolism models did not change the metabolism significantly which similar results were revealed by Hanson et al. 2008 as well.

Since estimation of metabolism relies on certain assumptions, unrealistic values for GPP and RES became inevitable and are needed to be examined (Staehr et al., 2012 (b); Staehr et al., 2010; Winslow et al., 2016). Models assume RES at night is equal to RES during daylight. This omits effects of environmental changes on living organism. For instance, strong winds may disrupt the algal bloom during day and may reduce abundance of phytoplankton that can alter respiration at night. Also, flow from catchment area may change with meteorological events that can alter balance of dissolved oxygen in lake. As a result, estimation of respiration during daylight or night would be inaccurate. This problem can be overcome at some level by using statistical approach like Kalman filter (smoothing) or Bayesian regression (replacing noisy observed data with model estimation) (Batt and Carpenter, 2012; Cremona et al., 2014). Also, results showed that using aggregated data reduce noisy observation for RES as well. However, still errors were observed even these approaches were used. Other assumption in the models, all parameter except GPP, RES and F are neglected that ignores the effects like ground water or horizontal and vertical advection (Giling et al., 2017; Obrador, Staehr, and Christensen, 2014). Generally unrealistic values were recorded when the extreme meteorological events occurred that disrupted thermal stratification in the lake also obtained from previous study explained by poor fitting the model (Honti et al., 2016). Thermal stratification influences distribution of organic and inorganic cycling within lakes (Coloso, Cole, and Pace, 2011; Matthew et al., 2012). Since metabolism was estimated only for epilimnion, during mixing periods, entrainment of organic matter and anoxic water from bottom layers may develop unrealistic results (Giling et al., 2016; Jennings et al., 2012). According to our results since thermal stratification changes very fast during day and within days, estimating metabolism with single sonde at one point may not represent true metabolic processes. Instead, depth integrated approaches can be used which set up with more sondes at different depths and includes advection between layers. On the other hand, it will not be cost effective (Coloso et al., 2008; Sadro et al., 2011; Staehr et al., 2012(a)).

Even there was no accurate one model to avoid errors, two methods are suggested to deal with errors (Winslow et al., 2016): Removing the unrealistic values from the dataset or force to models until get the realistic results. However, both have missing points. Former acts like there were no measurements in those days but most of the unrealistic values are obtained during extreme meteorological events. This will cause missing the effects of environmental changes which was our one of the main objectives. On the other hand, even true values obtained by forcing models, these values will also unrealistic and affect data quality.

Diel oxygen changes approach is less expensive and less labor intensive so that it gives us quick information about the lake ecosystem. However, it seems the metabolism estimation by dissolved oxygen approach has several missing points that shows improving of the equation is needed and crucial. Nowadays, even it is expensive, C^{13} stable isotope approach is used to gather information about the lakes. The stable isotope analysis provides both organic and inorganic carbon changes within the lake (Kluijver et al., 2015).

4.2 Environmental Parameters and Lake Metabolism

The contribution of lakes to global carbon cycle has become hotspot even lakes constitute small portion (4%) of Earth surface area (Downing and Duarte, 2006). Today,

it is known that lakes can store or release CO₂ depending on both metabolic processes and environmental variables (Jeppesen et al., 2014; Raymond et al., 2013; Tranvik et al., 2009). Even the major role of lakes in global scale is still unclear, most of the time lakes are oversaturated with CO₂ (Kosten et al., 2010). The balance of CO₂ fluxes is managed by primary producers (Jeppesen et al., 2015). Therefore, increase in primary production especially through aquatic plants causes sink of CO₂ in lakes that change the ecosystem functions and services (Wetzel, 2001).

One of the most threatened problem in lakes is eutrophication. By means of anthropogenic disturbance, increment of nutrient loading combining with climate change induces primary production (Cole et al., 2007; Einsele, Yan, and Hinderer, 2001; Schallenberg et al., 2013). It is clear that climate warming provoke eutrophication but the consequences depend on initial conditions and location (Jeppesen et al., 2015;2011; Özen et al., 2010; Rigosi et al., 2014). Since primary production is higher in eutrophic lakes, sink of CO₂ largely though it is more temporary is monitored (Wetzel, 2001). Therefore, it is expected that eutrophic lakes should act as sites of carbon storage (Alfonso et al., 2015; Cole et al., 2007; Dunalska et al., 2014).

Although Lake Eymir has been experiencing eutrophic conditions for long time, the results have shown net heterotrophy (NEP<0) most of the time in a year. In most cases, the autotrophic days (NEP>0) were limited with algal bloom periods. After 1997, in order to increase water clarity and to control algal bloom in Lake Eymir, two biomanipulation studies were applied by reducing the number of benthi-planktivorous fish, thus resulting with a reduction of the predation pressure on zooplankton which expose limitation of algal growth (Beklioglu, Burnak, and Ince, 2000; Beklioglu and Tan, 2008; Søndergaard et al., 2017; Caraco et al., 1997; Jeppesen et al., 1990). In addition, zooplankton community in spring composed of big-sized daphnids and copepods which may support respiration more as well as reduce NEP through grazing down phytoplankton (Elser et al., 2000; Elser et al. 1996). These could be the main reason to observe net heterotrophy in the lake though it is tricky as primary prouduction

was more burried in lake through zooplankton excreation. Previous study related to biomanipulation effects on lake metabolism were evaluated and found removal of zooplankton pressures induces net heterotrophy in the lake (Jeppesen et al., 2016). The lake is not biomanimulated but also not eutrophic showed that The other reason could be the nitrogen limitation in the lake may control the reproduction of the phytoplankton throughout the year. Increase in phytoplankton biomass after mixing of the lake is a good evidence that resuspension of the nitrogen from sediment may triggers the reproduction. Similar metabolism results were obtained in Yeniçağ Lake in Bolu (Karakaya et. al., 2011). Even the lake is not eutrophic and biomanipulated, the lake shows similar metabolism pattern like in Lake Eymir which is a good evidence that although Lake Eymir is experiencing algal bloom periods, it can compensate the effects of human disturbance at a certain point. Also, RES and GPP were positively correlated in epilimnion which is similar with many studies (Laas et al., 2012; Solomon et al., 2013; Staehr and Sand-Jensen, 2007) that implies RES in the epilimnion is mostly supported by primary producers.

The negative correlation between air/water temperature and chlorophyll-*a*/BGA concentrations was observed. It has been justified that increase in air temperature induces primary production in lakes (Deng et al., 2014; Rigosi et al., 2014; Yang et al., 2008). It was also observed in Lake Eymir. Algal blooms concurred with higher air temperatures. The reason to obtain negative relation may that measurements were recorded at 1.5 meter. When algal bloom occurred, it covers the surface of lake and may reduce algal production at lower depths. When air temperature decreases with rising of wind speed, chlorophyll-*a* concentration more evenly distributed. Therefore, measurements from 1.5 meter also increased. The other possible reason could be zooplankton grazing effect. In spring, even temperature rose, chlorophyll-*a* concentration remained lower values because of grazing pressure of big-sized zooplankton. This makes arduous to detect water temperature effect on chlorophyll-*a* concentration. However, when the data were segregated into small datasets, positive

correlation both for water and air temperature were noticed. This may also due to nitrogen limitation which limits reproduction of the phytoplankton even the temperature increases.

Environmental parameters other than air temperature have also effects on lake ecosystem. Wind is one of the main drivers of ecosystem of Lake Eymir even no strong correlation with other physico-chemical or metabolism parameters was obtained. The reason for this could be duration of winds is often short but its effect is crucial and only detect with long term high frequency monitoring (Jennings et al., 2012). During windy periods, thermal stratification is broken down and cause abrupt changes like entrainment of organic matters from bottom layers that was observed at 1.5 meter with the incline of fDOM measurements. In addition, heavy rainfalls in autumn could provoke flow of organic matter from catchment area (Hoellein et al., 2013; Nõges et al., 2016).

Since nutrient concentrations have great influence on growth of phytoplankton, TN:TP ratio is lower than 10 most of the times indicates nitrogen is the limiting nutrient for growth of algae (Meybeck et al. 1989, Chapman 1996). Therefore, when nitrogen is available in the environment, they may consume it for growing and resulted with negative correlation. SRP is also one of the main source for primary producers that reduces with increment of chlorophyll-*a* concentration.

4.3 Extreme Meteorological Events

According to climate change scenario, less precipitation and higher air temperatures are expected in Tukey that may change the precipitation type from snow to rain during winter. In addition, number of extreme weather events has been increasing since 1997 (Demircan et al., 2017). According to report of State of the Climate in Turkey (SCT2015), heavy precipitation (26%), wind storm (25%) and heat wave (11%) were the most monitored extremes during 2015. Such changes in the environment will affect the hydrology of shallow lakes like Lake Eymir. As reported by previous studies, Lake Eymir has been experiencing water fluctuation more than one meter within a year that

affects primary production (Özen, 2006). Also, it is claimed that increase in atmospheric CO_2 will affect fresh water CO_2 dynamics either directly by reducing plankton nutrient quality, community and food web structure or indirectly by influencing soil respiration, terrestrial productivity and climate regime (Hasler et al., 2016).

In order to assess effects of extreme meteorological events, high frequency data were examined and three distinct periods with abrupt changes were spotted in a year. First episode was breaking down of long term summer thermal stratification in September 2015. While decreasing in temperature, more storm events were monitored with heavy rainfall. Meanwhile, the lake has been experiencing algal bloom conditions. Therefore, mixing disturbed environment by reducing the chlorophyll-a concentration sharply unlike the mesocosm experiment conducted by Blottière and colleagues (2017). After first storm, incline in O₂ concentration with wind may due to atmospheric fluxes and evenly distribution of dissolved oxygen, then depletion of O₂ concentration were recorded may owing to death of phytoplankton and entrainment of deoxygenated water from lower layers. Additionally, fDOM increased after first mixing event that may be explained by increment of bacterial function after death of phytoplankton or entrainment of organic matters from bottom layers or from catchment area (Jennings et al., 2012; Sadro and Melack, 2012). Unstable environment resulted reduction both in GPP and RES but respiration exceeded to gross primary production after mixing that led CO₂ emission in the Lake (NEP <0).

Second episode was observed in early spring with unexpected high phytoplankton abundance may due to sudden increase in air temperature but also big-size zooplankton has not peaked yet. Therefore, GPP increased after 15th of April. However, then suddenly air temperature drops 11 Celsius degrees. After 21th of the April, even the air temperature increase enough to growth of primary producers, GPP was lower than RES. This may be explained by grazing pressures on phytoplankton. High abundance of zooplankton may be main control in phytoplankton community, especially in spring (Lampert et al., 1986; Meerhoff et al., 2012). Also, great amount of big size zooplankton may contribute to metabolic processes (NEP <0) more than small-sized zooplankton observed during summer (Elser et al., 2000, 1996)

Last episode, at the end of July, algal bloom occurred with high air temperature and low wind period. However, wind speed increased after 2^{nd} week of August and storm occurred in 15th of August. This reduced chlorophyll-*a* concentration increased fDOM and RES. Despite of similar behavior with first episode, after storm, the lake reverted to previous conditions with high chlorophyll-*a* concentration may because of continuation of higher air temperatures. Even wind induced CO₂ efflux, higher temperatures reinforced autotrophy (storage of carbon). Also, in this period, cyanobacteria with diatoms which use extensive of CO₂ (John et.al. 2002) dominated the lake that may keep system autotrophic after storm.

Within three extreme events, only in the last episode the metabolism models did not fail. At the first episode, model couldn't explain the RES for two days where the two strongest wind occured. In the second episode, after heatwave, sudden drop in the air temperature led faulty assumption in RES estimation. However, in the last period strong heterotrophy were detected during storm. This shows that when the lake is mixed by external factors, models fail to explain metabolism. This could be because of the assumptions of the equation. Entrainment from the other layer causes faulty assumptions. Therfore, for future work the equation should be improved.

To sum up, according to results, estimating piston velocity correctly has more influence on metabolism of Lake Eymir than metabolism models. In addition, obtaining less unrealistic values can be overcome by using depth integrated approach even it is costly. Moreover, it was observed that thermal stratification of Lake Eymir is vulnerable to meteorological changes that affects the lake metabolism. Besides, meteorological events and grazing pressure of zooplankton may induce heterotrophy in the lake even Lake Eymir is at eutrophic conditions that contradicts with many studies (Alfonso et al., 2015; Brighenti et al., 2015; Jeppesen et al., 2016; Laas et al., 2012).

CHAPTER 5

CONCLUSION

One of the objectives of the thesis was to monitor behavior of metabolism in biomanipulated eutrophic lake and to assess how extreme weathers induce metabolic activity of autotrophs and heterotrophs. To quantify this, we used diel oxygen changes. This objective was included to monitor and understand CO_2 fluxes in Lake Eymir. Since there were many distinct methods for estimating piston velocity and models for metabolism estimation, different methods and models were run to identify whether variation in approaches may result significantly different for lake Eymir. As a result, the evaluation of methods and models constitutes of other objective of the thesis.

Results showed that piston velocity methods have more important effects on metabolism results than metabolism estimation. High frequency measurements are necessary to understand shifts in lake ecosystems. By using high frequency measurements, we were able to observe effects of short term weather-related events on lake ecosystem. In Lake Eymir, wind was main agent that leads abrupt change in ecosystem functioning. In addition, air temperature was shown to induce algal blooms. On the other hand, zooplankton grazing had great influence on primary producers which plays an active role in CO_2 fluxes. Eymir acts as carbon sources (heterotrophic) to atmosphere even it has been experiencing eutrophication for long time.

In continuation to this study, first of all, we would like to recommend improving metabolism models to explain the effects of extreme events on lake ecosystem since during extremes the models failed. Secondly, since each lake is like individuals that responses differently to similar changes, monitoring more lakes will give more information to develop sustainable management strategies for lakes. Such monitoring has to be conducted using high frequency monitoring. Besides, to understand how climate change affects lakes, long term high frequency monitoring should also be continued.
REFERENCES

- Adrian, R., O'Reilly, C. M., Zagarese, H., Baines, S. B., Hessen, D. O., Keller, W., Winder, M., Livingstone, D.M., Sommaruga, R., Straile D., Van Donk, E., Weyhenmeyer, G.A., and Winderl, M. (2009). Lakes as sentinels of climate change. *Limnology and Oceanography*, 54(6part2), 2283–2297. https://doi.org/10.4319/lo.2009.54.6_part_2.2283
- American Association For Laboratory Accreditation. 1996. General Requirements for Accreditation. A2LA, American Assoc. Laboratory Accreditation, Gaithersburg, Md.
- Alfonso, M. B., Vitale, A. J., Menéndez, M. C., Perillo, V. L., Piccolo, M. C., and Perillo, G. M. E. (2015). Estimation of ecosystem metabolism from diel oxygen technique in a saline shallow lake: La Salada (Argentina). *Hydrobiologia*, 752(1), 223–237. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10750-014-2092-1
- Arend, Kristin K., Beletsky, Dmitry, DePinto, Joseph, Ludsin, Stuart A, Roberts, James J., Rucinski, Daniel K., Scavia, Donald, Schwab, David J., and Höök, Tomas O. (2011). Seasonal and interannual effects of hypoxia on fish habitat quality in central Lake Erie. *Freshwater Biology*, 56(2). https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2427.2010.02504.x
- Batt, R. D., and Carpenter, S. R. (2012). Free-water lake metabolism: addressing noisy time series with a Kalman filter. *Limnology and Oceanography: Methods*, *10*, 20–30. https://doi.org/10.4319/lom.2012.10.20
- Beklioglu, M., Burnak, S. L., and Ince, O. (2000). Benthi-planktivorous fish-induced low water quality of Lake Eymir before biomanipulation. *Turkish Journal of Zoology*, 24(3), 315–326.
- Beklioglu, M., Ince, O., and Tuzun, I. (2003). Restoration of the eutrophic Lake Eymir, Turkey, by biomanipulation after a major external nutrient control I. *Hydrobiologia*, 490, 93–105. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1023466629489
- Beklioglu, M., Meerhoff, M., Søndergaard, M., and Jeppesen, E. (2011). Eutrophication and Restoration of Shallow Lakes from a Cold Temperate to a Warm Mediterranean and Tropical Climate. In *Eutrophication: causes, consequences and control.*

- Beklioglu, M., and Tan, C. O. (2008). Restoration of a shallow Mediterranean Lake by biomanipulation complicated by drought. *Fundamental and Applied Limnology Archiv Für Hydrobiologie*, 171(2), 105–118. https://doi.org/10.1127/1863-9135/2008/0171-0105
- Beklioğlu, M., Bucak, T., Coppens, J., Bezirci, G., Tavşanoğlu, Ü., Çakıroğlu, Çalıroğlu, A. İ., Levi, E.E., Erdoğan, Ş., Filiz, N., Özkan, K., Özen, A. (2017). Restoration of Eutrophic Lakes with Fluctuating Water Levels: A 20-Year Monitoring Study of Two Inter-Connected Lakes. *Water*, 9(2), 127. https://doi.org/10.3390/w9020127
- Beniston, M., Stephenson, D. B., Christensen, O. B., Ferro, C. A. T., Frei, C., Goyette, S., Halsnaes, K., Holt, T., Jylhä, K., Koffi, B., Palutikof, J., Schöll R., Do Semmler, T., and Woth, K. (2007). Future extreme events in European climate: An exploration of regional climate model projections. *Climatic Change*, 81(SUPPL. 1), 71–95. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10584-006-9226-z
- Blottiere, L., Jaffar-Bandjee, M., Jacquet, S., Millot, A., and Hulot F.D. (2017). Effects of mixing on the pelagic food web in shallow lakes. *Freshwater Biology*. 62, 161–177
- Bontes, B. M., Pel, R., Ibelings, B. W., Boschker, H. T. S., Middelburg, J. J., and van Donk, E. (2005). The effects of biomanipulation on the biogeochemistry, carbon isotopic composition and pelagic food web relations of a shallow turf lake. *Biogeosciences Discussions*, 2(2003), 997–1031. https://doi.org/10.5194/bgd-2-997-2005
- Borges, A. V., Morana, C., Bouillon, S., Servais, P., Descy, J. P., & Darchambeau, F. (2014). Carbon cycling of Lake Kivu (East Africa): Net autotrophy in the epilimnion and emission of CO2 to the atmosphere sustained by geogenic inputs. *PLoS ONE*, 9(10). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0109500
- Brighenti, L. S., Staehr, P. A., Gagliardi, L. M., Brandão, L. P. M., Elias, E. C., de Mello, N. A. S. T., Barbosa, F.A.R., and Bezerra-Neto, J. F. (2015). Seasonal Changes in Metabolic Rates of Two Tropical Lakes in the Atlantic Forest of Brazil. *Ecosystems*, 18(4), 589–604. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10021-015-9851-3
- Burkholder, J. M., Noga, E. J., Hobbs, C. H., & Glasgow Jr, H. B. (1992). New "phantom"dinoflagellate is the causative agent of major estuarine fish kills. *Nature*, *358*, 407. Retrieved from http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/358407a0
- Carpenter, S., Cole, J., F. Kitchell, J., and L. Pace, M. (1998). Impact of dissolved organic carbon, phosphorus, and grazing on phytoplankton biomass and production in experimental lakes. *Limnology and Oceanography - Limnol. Oceanogr*.(Vol. 43). https://doi.org/10.4319/lo.1998.43.1.0073

- Chapman, D. (ed.) (1996), Water Quality Assessments: A Guide to the Use of Biota, Sediments and Water in Environmental Monitoring, Second edition, Chapman and Hall, London, pp. 450.
- Cole, J. J., and Caraco, N. F. (1998). Atmospheric exchange of carbon dioxide in a lowwind oligotrophic lake measured by the addition of SF6. *Limnology and Oceanography*, 43(4), 647–656. https://doi.org/10.4319/lo.1998.43.4.0647
- Cole, J. J., Pace, M. L., Carpenter, S. R., and Kitchell, J. F. (2000). Persistence of net heterotrophy in lakes during nutrient addition and food web manipulations. *Limnology and Oceanography*, 45(8), 1718–1730. https://doi.org/10.4319/lo.2000.45.8.1718
- Cole, J. J., Prairie, Y. T., Caraco, N. F., McDowell, W. H., Tranvik, L. J., Striegl, R. G., Duarte, C. M., Kortelainen, P., Downing, J. A., Middelburg, J. J. and Melack, J. (2007). Plumbing the global carbon cycle: Integrating inland waters into the terrestrial carbon budget. *Ecosystems*, 10(1), 171–184. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10021-006-9013-8
- Coloso, J. J., Cole, J. J., Hanson, P. C., and Pace, M. L. (2008). Depth-integrated, continuous estimates of metabolism in a clear-water lake. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, 65(4), 712–722. https://doi.org/10.1139/f08-006
- Coloso, J. J., Cole, J. J., and Pace, M. L. (2011). Short-term variation in thermal stratification complicates estimation of lake metabolism. *Aquatic Sciences*, 73(2), 305–315. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00027-010-0177-0
- Coppens, J., Özen, A., Tavşanoğlu, T. N., Erdoğan, Ş., Levi, E. E., Yozgatligil, C., Jeppesen E., Beklioğlu, M. (2016). Impact of alternating wet and dry periods on long-term seasonal phosphorus and nitrogen budgets of two shallow Mediterranean lakes. *Science of the Total Environment*, 563–564(1), 456–467. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2016.04.028
- Cremona, F., Laas, A., Nöges, P., and Nöges, T. (2014). High-frequency data within a modeling framework: On the benefit of assessing uncertainties of lake metabolism. *Ecological Modelling*, 294, 27–35. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolmodel.2014.09.013
- Crusius, J., and Wanninkhof, R. (2003). Gas transfer velocities measured at low wind speed over a lake. *Limnology and Oceanography*, 48(3), 1010–1017. https://doi.org/10.4319/lo.2003.48.3.1010
- Demircan, M., Gürkan, H., Eskioğlu, O., Arabacı, H., and Coşkun, M. (2017). Climate Change Projections for Turkey : Three Models and Two Scenarios. *Turkish Journal* of Water Science & Management, 1(1), 22–43.

- Deng, J., Qin, B., Paerl, H. W., Zhang, Y., Wu, P., Ma, J., and Chen, Y. (2014). Effects of nutrients, temperature and their interactions on spring phytoplankton community succession in Lake Taihu, China. *PLoS ONE*, 9(12), 1–19. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0113960
- Diaz, R. J., and Rosenberg, R. (2008). Spreading Dead Zones and Consequences for Marine Ecosystems. *Science*, 321(5891), 926 LP-929. Retrieved from http://science.sciencemag.org/content/321/5891/926.abstract
- Downing, J. A., and Duarte, C. M. (2006). Abundance and Size Distribution of Lakes, Ponds and Impoundments. *Reference Module in Earth Systems and Environmental Sciences*, 51(5), 2388–2397. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-409548-9.03867-7
- Duarte, C. M., and Prairie, Y. T. (2005). Prevalence of Heterotrophy and Atmospheric CO2 Emissions from Aquatic Ecosystems. *Ecosystems*, 8(7), 862–870. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10021-005-0177-4
- Dunalska, J. A., Staehr, P. A., Jaworska, B., Gorniak, D., and Gomulka, P. (2014). Ecosystem metabolism in a lake restored by hypolimnetic withdrawal. *Ecological Engineering*, 73, 616–623. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoleng.2014.09.048
- Einsele, G., Yan, J., and Hinderer, M. (2001). Atmospheric carbon burial in modern lake basins and its significance for the global carbon budget. *Global and Planetary Change*, *30*(3–4), 167–195. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0921-8181(01)00105-9
- Elser, J. J., Dobberfuhl, D. R., MacKay, N., and Schampel, J. H. (1996). Organism size, life history, and N: P stoichiometry: towards a unified view of cellular and ecosystem processes. *Bioscience*, *46*(9), 674–684. https://doi.org/10.2307/1312897
- Elser, J. J., Fagan, W. F., Denno, R. F., Dobberfuhl, D. R., Folarin, A., Huberty, A., Interlandi, S., Kilham, S.S., McCauleyk, E., Schulz, K.L., Siemann, E.H., and Sterner, R. W. (2000). Nutritional Constraints in Terrestrial and Freshwater Food Webs. *Nature*, 408(November 30, 2000), 578–580. https://doi.org/10.1038/35046058
- Frich, P., Alexander, L. V., Della-Marta, P., Gleason, B., Haylock, M., Tank Klein, A. M. G., and Peterson, T. (2002). Observed coherent changes in climatic extremes during the second half of the twentieth century. *Climate Research*, 19(3), 193–212. https://doi.org/10.3354/cr019193
- Gelda, R. K., and Effler, S. W. (2002). Metabolic rate estimates for a eutrophic lake from del dissolved oxygen signals. *Hydrobiologia*, 485, 51–66.

- Giling, D. P., Nejstgaard, J. C., Berger, S. A., Grossart, H. P., Kirillin, G., Penske, A., Lentz, M., Casper, P., Sareyka, J., Gessner, M. O. (2016). Thermocline deepening boosts ecosystem metabolism: Evidence from a large-scale lake enclosure experiment simulating a summer storm. *Global Change Biology*, 1448–1462. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.13512
- Giling, D. P., Staehr, P. A., Grossart, H. P., Andersen, M. R., Boehrer, B., Escot, C., Evrendilek, F., Gómez-Gener, L., Honti, M., Jones, I. D., Karakaya, N., Laas, A., Moreno-Ostos, E., Rinke, K., Scharfenberger, U., Schmidt, S. R., Weber, M., Woolway, R. I., Zwart, J., and A. Obrador, B. (2017). Delving deeper: Metabolic processes in the metalimnion of stratified lakes. *Limnology and Oceanography*, (iDiv). https://doi.org/10.1002/lno.10504
- Glasgow, H. B., Burkholder, J. M., Reed, R. E., Lewitus, A. J., and Kleinman, J. E. (2004). Real-time remote monitoring of water quality: A review of current applications, and advancements in sensor, telemetry, and computing technologies. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology*, 300(1–2), 409–448. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jembe.2004.02.022
- Golterman, H. L., Clymo, R. S., Ohnstad, M. A. M., and Programme., I. B. (1987). Methods for physical and chemical analysis of fresh waters *IBP handbook*; 8. *TA* - (2nd ed. /). Oxford : Blackwell Scientific,.
- Grizzetti, A. B., Lanzanova, D., Liquete, C., and Reynaud, A. (2015). Cook-book for water ecosystem service assessment and valuation. https://doi.org/10.2788/67661
- Groffman, P. M., Cavender-Bares, J., Bettez, N. D., Grove, J. M., Hall, S. J., Heffernan, J. B., Hobbie, S. E., Larson, K. L., Morse, J. L., Neill, C., Nelson, K., O'Neil-Dunne, J., Ogden, L., Pataki, D. E., Polsky, C. Chowdhury, R. R., Steele, M. K. (2014). Ecological homogenization of urban USA. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment*, 12(1), 74–81. https://doi.org/10.1890/120374
- Hall, C. A. S. (1972). Migration and Metabolism in a Temperate Stream Ecosystem. *Ecology*, 53(4), 585–604. https://doi.org/10.2307/1934773
- Hanson, P. C., Bade, D. L., Carpenter, S. R., and Kratz, T. K. (2003). Lake metabolism: Relationships with dissolved organic carbon and phosphorus. *Limnology and Oceanography*, 48(3), 1112–1119. https://doi.org/10.4319/lo.2003.48.3.1112
- Hanson, P. C., S. R. Carpenter, N.Kımura, C.Wu, S.P. Cornelius, And T. K. Kratz. (2008). Evaluation of metabolism models for free-water dissolved oxygen methods in lakes. *Limnol. Oceanogr.* Methods 6: 454–465.
- Hasler, C. T., Butman, D., Jeffrey, J. D., and Suski, C. D. (2016). Freshwater biota and rising pCO2? *Ecology Letters*, 19(1), 98–108. https://doi.org/10.1111/ele.12549

- Heiskanen, J. J., Mammarella, I., Haapanala, S., Pumpanen, J., Vesala, T., Macintyre, S., and Ojala, A. (2014). Effects of cooling and internal wave motions on gas transfer coefficients in a boreal lake. *Tellus, Series B: Chemical and Physical Meteorology*, 66(1), 1–16. https://doi.org/10.3402/tellusb.v66.22827
- Hoellein, T. J., Bruesewitz, D. A., and Richardson, D. C. (2013). Revisiting Odum (1956). A synthesis of aquatic ecosystem metabolism. *Limnology and Oceanography*, 58(6), 2089–2100. https://doi.org/10.4319/lo.2013.58.6.2089
- Honti, M., Istvanovics, V., Staehr, P. A., Brighenti, L. S., Zhu, M., and Zhu, G. (2016). Robust estimation of lake metabolism by coupling high frequency dissolved oxygen and chlorophyll fluorescence data in a Bayesian framework. *Inland Waters*, 6(4), 608–621. https://doi.org/10.5268/IW-6.4.877
- Houghton, J.T., Ding, Y., Griggs, D.J., Noguer, M., van der Linden, P.J., Dai, X., Maskell, K., and Johnson, C.A. (2001). Climate Change 2001: The Scientific Basis. 881. https://doi.org/10.1256/004316502320517344
- Jennings, E., Jones, S., Arvola, L., Staehr, P. A., Gaiser, E., Jones, I. D., Weathers, K. C., Weyhenmeyer, G. A., Chiu, C. Y. D., Eyto, E. (2012). Effects of weather-related episodic events in lakes: an analysis based on high-frequency data. *Freshwater Biology*, 57(3), 589–601. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2427.2011.02729.x
- Jeppesen, E., Jensen, J. P., Søndergaard, M., Lauridsen, T., Pedersen, L. J., and Jensen, L. (1997). Top-down control in freshwater lakes: the role of nutrient state, submerged macrophytes and water depth. *Hydrobiologia*, 342(0), 151–164. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1017046130329
- Jeppesen, E., B. Moss, H. Bennion, L. Carvalho, L. De Meester, H. Feuchtmayr, N. Friberg, M. O. Gessner, M. Hefting, T. L. Lauridsen, L. Liboriussen, H. Malmquist, L. May, M. Meerhoff, J. S. Olafsson, M. B. Soons & J. T. A. Verhoeven, (2010). Chapter 5: Interaction of climate change and eutrophication. In Kernan, M., R. Battarbee and B. Moss (eds), *Climate Change Impacts on Freshwater Ecosystems*. Wiley-Blackwell, London.
- Jeppesen, E., B. Kronvang, J. E. Olesen, M. Søndergaard, C. C. Hoffmann, H. E. Andersen, T. L. Lauridsen, L. Libori- ussen, S. Larsen, M. Beklioğlu, M. Meerhoff, A. Özen and K. Özkan, (2011). Climate change effect on nitrogen loading from catchment in Europe: implications for nitrogen retention and ecological state of lakes and adaptations. *Hydrobiologia* 663: 1–21
- Jeppesen, E., Meerhoff, M., Davidson, T. A., Trolle, D., Søndergaard, M., Lauridsen, T. L., Beklioğlu M., Brucet S., Volta P., Gonzalez-Bergonzoni I., and Nielsen, A. (2014). Climate change impacts on lakes: An integrated ecological perspective based on a multi-faceted approach, with special focus on shallow lakes. *Journal of Limnology*, 73(1 SUPPL). https://doi.org/10.4081/jlimnol.2014.844

- Jeppesen, E., Trolle, D., Davidson, T. A., Bjerring, R., Sondergaard, M., Johansson, L. S., Lauridsen, T.L., Nielsen, A., Larsen S.A., Meerhoff, M. (2016). Major changes in CO2 efflux when shallow lakes shift from a turbid to a clear water state. *Hydrobiologia*, 778(1), 33–44. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10750-015-2469-9
- Jespersen, A.M. and Christoffersen, K. (1987). Measurements of chlorophyll-a from phytoplankton using ethanol as extraction solvent. *Hydrobiologie*, 109, 445–454.
- John, D.M., Whitton, B.A., and Brook, A.J., (2002). The Freshwater Algal Flora of the British Isles. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK.
- Karakaya, N., (2011). Does different versus equal daytime and night-time respiration matter for quantification of lake metabolism using diel dissolved oxygen cycles? *Ann. Limnol. - Int. J. Lim.* 47 (2011) 251–257
- Kluijver, A. D., J. Ning, Z. Liu, E. Jeppesen & J. J. Middelburg, (2015). Macrophyte and periphyton carbon subsidies to bacterioplankton and zooplankton in a shallow, eutrophic lake in tropical China. *Limnology and Oceanography* 60: 375–385.
- Kortelainen, P., Pajunen, H., Rantakari, M., and Saarnisto, M. (2004). A large pool and small sink in boreal Holocene lake sediments. *Global Change Biology* (Vol. 10). https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2004.00848.x
- Kosten, S., Roland, F., Da Motta Marques, D. M. L., Van Nes, E. H., Mazzeo, N., Sternberg, L. D. S. L., Scheffer, M., and Cole, J. J. (2010). Climate-dependent CO2 emissions from lakes. *Global Biogeochemical Cycles*, 24(2), 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1029/2009GB003618
- Krom, M. D. (1980). Spectrophotometric determination of ammonia: a study of a modified Berthelot reaction using salicylate and dichloroisocyanurate. *The Analyst*, 105(1249), 305. https://doi.org/10.1039/an9800500305
- Laas, A., Nõges, P., Kõiv, T., and Nõges, T. (2012). High-frequency metabolism study in a large and shallow temperate lake reveals seasonal switching between net autotrophy and net heterotrophy. *Hydrobiologia*, 694(1), 57–74. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10750-012-1131-z
- Lampert, W., Fleckner, W., Rai, H., and Taylor, B. E. (1986). Phytoplankton control by grazing zooplankton: A study on the spring clear-water phase. *Limnology and Oceanography*, *31*(3), 478–490. https://doi.org/10.4319/lo.1986.31.3.0478
- Lauster, G. H., Hanson, P. C., and Kratz, T. K. (2006). Gross primary production and respiration differences among littoral and pelagic habitats in northern Wisconsin lakes. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, 63(5), 1130–1141. https://doi.org/10.1139/f06-018

- MacIntyre, S., Jonsson, A., Jansson, M., Aberg, J., Turney, D. E., and Miller, S. D. (2010). Buoyancy flux, turbulence, and the gas transfer coefficient in a stratified lake. *Geophysical Research Letters*, 37(24), 2–6. https://doi.org/10.1029/2010GL044164
- Mackereth, F. J. H., Heron, J., and Talling, J. F. (1978). Water analysis: some revised methods for limnologists. *Freshwater Biological Association*. Retrieved from https://books.google.com.tr/books?id=jDhRAAAMAAJ
- Marcé, R., George, G., Buscarinu, P., Deidda, M., Dunalska, J., Eyto, E. De, Flaim,G., Grossart, H.P., Istvanovics,V., Lenhardt,M., Moreno-Ostos, E., Obrador, B., Poikane, S., Rinke, K., Rodríguez-Mozaz, S., Staehr, P.A., Šumberová, K., Ostrovsky, İ, Pierson, D.C., Potužák,J., Waajen, G., Weyhenmeyer,G.A., Weathers, H.C., Zion, M., Ibelings,B.W., Jennings, E. (2016). Automatic high frequency monitoring for improved lake and reservoir management. *Environmental Science* and Technology. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.6b01604
- Matthews, N. (2016). People and Fresh Water Ecosystems: Pressures, Responses and Resilience. *Aquatic Procedia*, *6*, 99–105. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aqpro.2016.06.012
- Meerhoff, M., Teixeira-de Mello, F., Kruk, C., Alonso, C., González-Bergonzoni, I., Pacheco, J. P., Lacerot G., Arim, M., Beklioğlu, M., Brucet, S., Goyenola, G., Iglesias, C., Mazzeo, N., Kosten, Jeppesen, E. (2012). Environmental Warming in Shallow Lakes. A Review of Potential Changes in Community Structure as Evidenced from Space-for-Time Substitution Approaches. *Advances in Ecological Research* (Vol. 46). https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-396992-7.00004-6
- Melillo, J. M., Richmond, T. T. C., and Yohe., G. W. (2014). Climate Change Impacts in the United States: *The Third National Climate Assessment.*, 31–33. https://doi.org/10.7930/J0Z31WJ2.http
- Meybeck M., Chapman D. and Helmer R. (eds.) (1989), Global Fresh Water Quality: A First Assessment, Basil Blackwell, Oxford, pp. 307.
- Molot, L. A, and Dillon, P. J. (1997). Photolytic regulation of dissolved organic carbon in northern lakes. *Global Biogeochemical Cycles* 11: 357–365.
- Moss, B. (1998). Ecology of freshwaters: man and medium, past to future, *3rd edn*. (3rd ed.). Oxford: Blackwell Science.
- Moss, B. (2010). Climate change, nutrient pollution and the bargain of Dr Faustus. *Freshwater Biology*, 55(SUPPL. 1), 175–187. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2427.2009.02381.x

- Mutshinda, C. M., Finkel, Z. V., and Irwin, A. J. (2013). Which environmental factors control phytoplankton populations? A Bayesian variable selection approach. *Ecological Modelling*, 269, 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolmodel.2013.07.025
- Myers, S. S. (2009). Global environmental change: The threat to human health. *Worldwatch Paper*. Retrieved from http://www.scopus.com/inward/record.url?eid=2-s2.0-80051755713&partnerID=40&md5=ebb5823b8a76b4f4bf064ec30e1827da
- Nõges, P., Cremona, F., Laas, A., Martma, T., Rõõm, E. I., Toming, K., Viik M., Vilbaste, S., and Nõges, T. (2016). Role of a productive lake in carbon sequestration within a calcareous catchment. *Science of the Total Environment*, 550, 225–230. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2016.01.088
- Obrador, B., Staehr, P. A., and Christensen, J. P. C. (2014). Vertical patterns of metabolism in three contrasting stratified lakes. *Limnology and Oceanography*, 59(4). https://doi.org/10.4319/lo.2014.59.4.1228
- Odum, H. T. (1956). Primary Production in Flowing Waters1. *Limnology and Oceanography*, 1(2), 102–117. https://doi.org/10.4319/lo.1956.1.2.0102
- Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nation (2016). The State of Food and Agriculture. Livestock in the Balance. *FAO*. https://doi.org/ISBN: 978-92-5-109374-0
- Özen, A. (2006). Role of hydrology, nutrients and fish predation in determining the ecology of a system of shallow lakes. *Middle East Technical University, PhD thesis colection.* Retrieved from http://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.1.633.1099&rep=rep1&typ e=pdf
- Özen, A., Karapinar, B., Kucuk, I., Jeppesen, E., and Beklioglu, M. (2010). Droughtinduced changes in nutrient concentrations and retention in two shallow Mediterranean lakes subjected to different degrees of management. *Hydrobiologia*, 646(1), 61–72. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10750-010-0179-x
- Pace, M. L., and Prairie, Y. T. (2005). Respiration in lakes. *Respiration in Aquatic Ecosystems*, 103–121. https://doi.org/10.1093/acprof:oso/9780198527084.003.0007
- Peel, M. C., Finlayson, B. L., and McMahon, T. A. (2006). Updated world map of the Köppen-Geiger climate classification. *Meteorologische Zeitschrift*, 15(October), 259–263. https://doi.org/10.1127/0941-2948/2006/0130
- R Development Core Team (2017). R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. ISBN 3-900051-07-0, URL <u>http://www.R-project.org.</u>

- Rantakari, M., and Kortelainen, P. (2005). Interannual variation and climatic regulation of the CO2 emission from large boreal lakes. *Global Change Biology* (Vol. 11). https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2005.00982.x
- Raymond, P. A, Hartmann, J., Lauerwald, R., Sobek, S., McDonald, C., Hoover, M., Butman D., Striegl R., Mayorga E., Humborg, C., Kortelainen, P., Dürr, H., Meybeck M., Ciais, P., and Guth, P. (2013). Global carbon dioxide emissions from inland waters. *Nature*, 503(7476), 355–359. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature12760
- Read, J. S., and Rose, K. C. (2013). Physical responses of small temperate lakes to variation in dissolved organic carbon concentrations. *Limnology and Oceanography*, 58(3), 921–931. https://doi.org/10.4319/lo.2013.58.3.0921
- Rigosi, A., Carey, C. C., Ibelings, B. W., and Brookes, J. D. (2014). The interaction between climate warming and eutrophication to promote cyanobacteria is dependent on trophic state and varies among taxa. *Limnology and Oceanography*, 59. https://doi.org/10.4319/lo.2014.59.01.0099
- Sadro, S., and Melack, J. M. (2012). The Effect of an Extreme Rain Event on the Biogeochemistry and Ecosystem Metabolism of an Oligotrophic High-Elevation Lake. Arctic, Antarctic, and Alpine Research, 44(2), 222–231. https://doi.org/10.1657/1938-4246-44.2.222
- Sadro, S., Melack, J. M., and MacIntyre, S. (2011). Depth-integrated estimates of ecosystem metabolism in a high-elevation lake (Emerald Lake, Sierra Nevada, California). *Limnology and Oceanography*, 56(5), 1764–1780. https://doi.org/10.4319/lo.2011.56.5.1764
- Schallenberg, M., De Winton, M. D., Verburg, P., Kelly, D. J., Hamill, K. D., and Hamilton, D. P. (2013). Ecosystem Services of Lakes. Ecosystem Services in New Zealand: Conditions and Trends. *Manaaki Whenua Press, Lincoln*, 203–225.
- Schär, C., Vidale, P. L., Lüthi, D., Frei, C., Häberli, C., Liniger, M. A., and Appenzeller, C. (2004). The role of increasing temperature variability in European summer heatwaves. *Nature*, 427, 332. Retrieved from http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/nature02300
- Schindler, D. W. (2006). Recent advances in the understanding and management of eutrophication. *Limnol. Oceanogr*, *51*(2), 356–363. https://doi.org/10.4319/lo.2006.51.1_part_2.0356
- Searle, P. L. (1984). The berthelot or indophenol reaction and its use in the analytical chemistry of nitrogen. A review. Analyst, 109(5), 549–568. https://doi.org/10.1039/AN9840900549
- Smith, A. S. V, and Key, G. S. (1975). Carbon Dioxide and Metabolism in Marine Environments Carbon. *Limnology and Oceanography*, 20(3), 493–495. https://doi.org/10.4319/lo.1975.20.3.0493

- Sobek, S., Tranvik, L., and Cole, J. (2005). Temperature independence of carbon dioxide supersaturation in global lakes. *Global Biogeochemical Cycles* (Vol. 19). https://doi.org/10.1029/2004GB002264
- Solomon, C. T., Bruesewitz, D. a., Richardson, D. C., Rose, K. C., Van de Bogert, M. C., Hanson, P. C., Kratz, T. K., Larget, B., Adrian, R., Babin, B. L., Chiu, C., Hamilton, D. P., Gaiser, E. E., Hendricks, S., Istvanovics, V., Laas, A., O'Donnell, D. M., Pace, M. L., Ryder, E., Staehr, P. A., Torgersen, T., Vanni, M. J., Weathers, K. C., Zhu, G. (2013). Ecosystem respiration: Drivers of daily variability and background respiration in lakes around the globe. *Limnology and Oceanography*, 58(3), 849–866. https://doi.org/10.4319/lo.2013.58.3.0849
- Soloviev, A., Donelan, M., Graber, H., Haus, B., and Schlüssel, P. (2007). An approach to estimation of near-surface turbulence and CO2 transfer velocity from remote sensing data. *Journal of Marine Systems*, 66(1–4), 182–194. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmarsys.2006.03.023
- Søndergaard, M., Lauridsen, T., Johansson, L., and Jeppesen, E. (2017). Repeated Fish Removal to Restore Lakes: Case Study of Lake Væng, Denmark—Two Biomanipulations during 30 Years of Monitoring. *Water*, 9(1), 43. https://doi.org/10.3390/w9010043
- Staehr, P. A., and Sand-Jensen, K. (2007). Temporal dynamics and regulation of lake metabolism. *Limnology and Oceanography*, 52(1), 108–120. https://doi.org/10.4319/lo.2007.52.1.0108
- Staehr, P. A., Bade, D., Koch, G. R., Williamson, C., Hanson, P., Cole, J. J., and Kratz, T. (2010). Lake metabolism and the diel oxygen technique: State of the science. *Limnology and Oceanography: Methods*, 8, 628–644. https://doi.org/10.4319/lom.2010.8.628
- Staehr, P. A., Testa, J. M., Kemp, W. M., Cole, J. J., Sand-Jensen, K., and Smith, S. V. (2012a). The metabolism of aquatic ecosystems: History, applications, and future challenges. *Aquatic Sciences*, 74(1), 15–29. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00027-011-0199-2
- Staehr, P. A., Christensen, J. P. a., Batt, R., and Read, J. (2012b). Ecosystem metabolism in a stratified lake. *Limnology and Oceanography*, 57(5), 1317–1330. https://doi.org/10.4319/lo.2012.57.5.1317
- Steffen, W., Persson, Å., Deutsch, L., Zalasiewicz, J., Williams, M., Richardson, K., Crumley C., Crutzen, P., Folke, C., Gordon, L., Molina, M., Ramanathan, V.,Rockstrçöm, J., Scheffer, M., Schellnhuber, H.J., Svedin, U. (2011). The anthropocene: From global change to planetary stewardship. *Ambio*, 40(7), 739– 761. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13280-011-0185-x

- Thompson, R. M., Beardall, J., Beringer, J., Grace, M., and Sardina, P. (2013). Means and extremes: Building variability into community-level climate change experiments. *Ecology Letters*, *16*(6), 799–806. https://doi.org/10.1111/ele.12095
- Tranvik, L.J., Downing, J.A., Cotner, J.B., Loiselle, S.A., Striegl, R.G., Ballatore, T.J., Dillon, P., Finlay, K., Fortino, K., Knoll, L.B., Kortelainen, P.L., Kutser, T., Larsen, S., Laurion, I., Leech, D.M., McCallister, S.L., McKnight, D.M., Melack, J.M., Overholt, E., Porter, J.A., Prairie, Y., Renwick, W.H., Roland, F., Sherman, B.S., Schindler, D.W., Sobek, S., Tremblay, A., Vanni, M.J., Verschoor, A.M., von Wachenfeldt, E., Weyhenmeyer, G., (2009). Lakes and reservoirs as regulators of carbon cycling and climate. *Limnology and Oceanography*, 54(6, part 2), 2298–2314. https://doi.org/10.4319/lo.2009.54.6_part_2.2298
- Tsai, J. W., Kratz, T. K., Hanson, P. C., Kimura, N., Liu, W. C., Lin, F. P., Chou, H.M., Wu, J.T., Chiu, C. Y. (2011). Metabolic changes and the resistance and resilience of a subtropical heterotrophic lake to typhoon disturbance. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, 68(5), 768–780. https://doi.org/Doi 10.1139/F2011-024
- Vachon D, Prairie Y. 2013. The ecosystem size and shape dependence of gas transfer velocity versus wind speed relationships in lakes. *Can J Fish Aquat Sci.* 70:1757– 1764.
- Van de Bogert, M. C., Bade, D. L., Carpenter, S. R., Cole, J. J., Pace, M. L., Hanson, P. C., Langman O.C., (2012). Spatial heterogeneity strongly affects estimates of ecosystem metabolism in two north temperate lakes. *Limnology and Oceanography*, 57(6), 1689–1700. https://doi.org/10.4319/lo.2012.57.6.1689
- Van de Bogert, M. C., Carpenter, S. R., Cole, J. J., and Pace, M. L. (2007). Assessing pelagic and benthic metabolism using free water measurements. *Limnology and Oceanography-Methods*, 5, 145–155. https://doi.org/10.4319/lom.2007.5.145
- Vincent, W. F. (2009). Effects of Climate Change on Lakes. Université Laval, 55–60. https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/B978-012370626-3.00233-7
- Water Scarcity Drafting Group. (2006). Water scarcity management in the context of *WFD*, 121.
- Wetzel, R. G. (2001). Limnology : lake and river ecosystems. Academic Press.
- WHO. (2003). Climate Change and Human Health Risks and Responses. World Healht
Organization, 38. Retrieved from
http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/42749/1/9241590815.pdf

- Williamson, C. E., Saros, J. E., Vincent, W. F., and Smol, J. P. (2009). Lakes and reservoirs as sentinels, integrators, and regulators of climate change. *Limnology and Oceanography*, 54(6part2), 2273–2282. https://doi.org/10.4319/lo.2009.54.6_part_2.2273
- Winslow, L. A., Zwart, J. A., Batt, R. D., Dugan, H. A., Iestyn Woolway, R., Corman, J. R., Hanson, P.C., Read, J. S. (2016). LakeMetabolizer: An R package for estimating lake metabolism from free-water oxygen using diverse statistical models. *Inland Waters*, 6(4), 622–636. https://doi.org/10.5268/IW-6.4.883
- World Wildlife Fund. (2016). Living Planet Report 2016 : Risk and resilience in a new ear. *WWF* (*World Wildlife Fund*). Retrieved from http://awsassets.panda.org/downloads/lpr_living_planet_report_2016.pdf
- Yang, X., Wu, X., Hao, H., and He, Z. (2008). Mechanisms and assessment of water eutrophication. *Journal of Zhejiang University. Science. B*, *9*(3), 197–209. https://doi.org/10.1631/jzus.B0710626
- Zwart, J. A., Craig, N., Kelly, P. T., Sebestyen, S. D., Solomon, C. T., Weidel, B. C., and Jones, S. E. (2016). Metabolic and physiochemical responses to a whole-lake experimental increase in dissolved organic carbon in a north-temperate lake. *Limnology and Oceanography*, 61(2), 723–734. https://doi.org/10.1002/lno.10248

APPENDIX A

METHODS AND MODELS FLOW CHART

GPP, RES and NEP estimation by using different k_{gas} methods and metabolism models from aggregated and non-aggregated data

k ₆₀₀	Metabolism	10 min raw data	Averaged nourly data
method	model	\square (non-aggregated)	(aggregated)
Cole		\rightarrow mGPP/ mRES/ mNEP	hGPP/ hRES/ hNEP
Crusius		→ mGPP/ mRES/ mNEP	hGPP/ hRES/ hNEP
Vachon	ŀ	→ mGPP/mRES/mNEP	hGPP/ hRES/ hNEP
Heiskanen	Bayesian	→ mGPP/mRES/mNEP	hGPP/ hRES/ hNEP
Read	·	→ mGPP/mRES/mNEP	hGPP/ hRES/ hNEP
Soloviev	ŀ	→ mGPP/mRES/mNEP	hGPP/ hRES/ hNEP
MacIntyre		→ mGPP/mRES/mNEP	hGPP/ hRES/ hNEP
		CDD/ DEC/ NED	
Cole		mGPP/ mRES/ mNEP	nGPP/ nRES/ nNEP
Crusius		→ mGPP/ mRES/ mNEP	hGPP/ hRES/ hNEP
Vachon		→ mGPP/mRES/mNEP	hGPP/ hRES/ hNEP
Heiskanen	Bookkeep	→ mGPP/mRES/mNEP	hGPP/ hRES/ hNEP
Read	^	→ mGPP/mRES/mNEP	hGPP/ hRES/ hNEP
Soloviev	ŀ	→ mGPP/mRES/mNEP	hGPP/ hRES/ hNEP
MacIntvre		→ mGPP/mRES/mNEP	hGPP/ hRES/ hNEP
Cole		→ mGPP/mRES/mNEP	hGPP/ hRES/ hNEP
Crusius		► mGPP/ mRES/ mNEP	hGPP/ hRES/ hNEP
Vachon		→ mGPP/mRES/mNEP	hGPP/ hRES/ hNEP
Heiskanen	Kalman	→ mGPP/mRES/mNEP	hGPP/ hRES/ hNEP
Read		mGPP/mRES/mNEP	hGPP/ hRES/ hNEP
Soloviev		mGPP/mRES/mNFP	hGPP/hRES/hNEP
MaaIntura		mCDD/mDES/mNED	hCDD/hDES/hNED
macinityre		IIIGPP/ IIIKES/ IIINEP	IIGPP/ IIRES/ IINEP
Cala			
		mGPP/ mRES/ mNEP	hGPP/ hRES/ hNEP
Crusius		→ mGPP/ mRES/ mNEP	hGPP/ hRES/ hNEP
Vachon		\longrightarrow <u>mGPP/mRES/mNEP</u>	hGPP/ hRES/ hNEP
Heiskanen	MLE	→ mGPP/mRES/mNEP	hGPP/ hRES/ hNEP
Read	ŀ	→ mGPP/mRES/mNEP	hGPP/ hRES/ hNEP
Soloviev		→ mGPP/mRES/mNEP	hGPP/ hRES/ hNEP
MacIntyre		mGPP/mRES/mNEP	hGPP/hRES/hNEP
1111111111111111		morr/ mess/ musi	
Cole		mGPP/mRFS/mNFP	hGPP/ hRES/ hNEP
Crusiuc		mGPD/mPES/mNED	hGPP/hRES/hNEP
Vachar		mCDD/mDES/mNED	hGDD/hRES/hNED
Vacnon		mGPP/ mKES/ mNEP	hCDD/hDEG/hNEP
Heiskanen	OLS	→ mGPP/mRES/mNEP	nGPP/ nKES/ hNEP
Read		\rightarrow mGPP/ mRES/ mNEP	hGPP/ hRES/ hNEP
Soloviev	ŀ	► mGPP/ mRES/ mNEP	hGPP/ hRES/ hNEP
MacIntyre		→ mGPP/mRES/mNEP	hGPP/ hRES/ hNEP